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Operations Review 
 
OVERVIEW 
Northern Star Resources Ltd was formed in May 2000 to explore for and develop mineral resources in the largely under-
explored Kimberley region of Western Australia. During the year the Company reached agreement to acquire 100% 
beneficial ownership of the operating high grade high margin Paulsens Gold Mine commencing 1 June 2010.  Financial 
completion and asset transfer was settled on 30 July 2010.  Northern Star now holds a mining and exploration portfolio of 
approximately 716km2 with projects at various stages of development covering a range of commodities with a focus on gold, 
base metals (copper-zinc) and uranium.  The projects are situated in the Ashburton, West Pilbara, Murchison and 
Kimberley Mineral Fields of Western Australia and include: 

• Paulsens Gold Mine Gold Ashburton/West Pilbara 
• Cheroona / Beatty Park Gold / Copper Murchison 
• Golden Crown Gold Kimberley 
• Range Gold/Silver Kimberley 
• Emull Base Metals Kimberley 
• U3O8 East Kimberley JV  Uranium Kimberley 

The extent of development of each exploration project varies from having advanced drill targets at Paulsens, Range, Emull 
and Golden Crown and greenfields targets generated from interpretation of prospective geological settings at Cheroona and 
the East Kimberley JV. 

The Company’s exploration focus has been on an initial geological asessment of the tenement package surrounding the 
Paulsens Gold Mine (including the Cullen Resources Ltd and Artemis Resources Ltd joint ventures) and on the 
Cheroona/Beatty Park copper–gold projects.  Data validation, geological modelling and drill planning continued at Golden 
Crown, Range and Emull. 

CORPORATE 
Subsequent to the end of the 2009 financial year an EGM was held on 4 September 2009 at which all required approvals 
were obtained for completion of the corporate restructuring including ratification and/or approvals for the acquisition of shares 
from Xstata Nickel Australasia Pty Ltd by InvestMet Limited, 1st and 2nd tranche placements, issue of directors/consultants 
incentive options and issue of debt to equity shares.  Approval was also given for the future exercise of options held by 
InvestMet and other related parties.   

During the past year the Company has continued to identify and review numerous potential project acquisitions that meet 
acceptable commerical criteria, are corporately achievable and suitable to the organisation’s skill set.  A number of offers 
were made on various advanced projects which ultimately resulted in agreement being reached for the acquisition of the 
Paulsens Gold Mine and surrounding tenement package from Intrepid Mines (ASX:IAU). 

The purchase consideration of up to $40 million for Paulsens is structured as follows: 

(a) $250,000 paid as a non-refundable deposit; 
(b) $14,750,000 upon completion of the transaction;  
(c) a royalty of $200 per ounce of gold sold from 1 June 2010, subject to a maximum of 51,000 ounces; 
(d) additional royalty of $135 per ounce of gold sold from 1 June 2010, subject to a maximum of 51,000 ounces; 
(e) a cash payment of $3 million, payable in two equal instalments, upon completion of the transaction and on 31 

October 2010; 
(f) a top-up payment of $2.5 million contingent upon gold production totalling 57,500 ounces;  
(g) a top-up payment of $2.5 million contingent upon gold production totalling 62,500 ounces. 
(h) Intrepid also has an option to purchase the Paulsens plant and infrastructure for $1 in the event that gold production 

of 62,500 ounces is not achieved or the top-up cash payments are not made.  

OPERATIONS - PAULSENS 
Paulsens is an operational gold mine located 190km west of the mining town of Paraburdoo within the Ashburton region of 
Western Australia.  It has an Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resource estimate of 314,000 tonnes @ 12.8g/t for 128,700 
ounces of gold (refer to table 2).  The Ashburton/Pilbara region hosts a number of WA’s significant resource projects, with a 
resurgence currently occurring in the region on the back of exploration and development of iron ore, gold and base metals 
projects.  
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The Paulsens underground gold mine commenced production in 2005 and has operated for the past 5 years at an average 
cash cost of A$538/oz.  Total mine production to date is 1.53Mt @ 7.6g/t for 373,000 ounces with the mine consistently 
producing 70-80,000 ounces per annum (Table 1).  Paulsens was established on a nameplate capacity of 240,000 tonnes 
per annum, however it has for 5 years consistently mined and processed in excess of 340,000 tonnes per annum.  The 
Project contains a fully operational mine with a decline developed to 500 metres below surface, 340,000 tonnes per annum 
processing facility that has achieved 95% gold recoveries throughout 2009 and a modern camp/office facility which have a 
combined replacement value estimated at $30 million.  A stage 1 mine plan targeting 65,000 ounces of production is in 
place.  Resource extension drilling is underway and Northern Star intends to accelerate this program.  

The Paulsens mine was due to wind down production early this year until the Voyager 1 resource was further defined.  From 
the start of the year the Voyager 1 resource has been under development with IAU investing $14 million to commence 
production from this resource.  This investment enabled gold production to re-commence from Northern Star’s takeover point 
on 1 June 2010.  The mine will produce 65,000 ounces by early 2011 and is expected to generate surplus cash of $44 million 
based on a gold price of A$1,400 per ounce.  
 

Year Production 
(oz) 

Cash Cost 
US$ 

Cash Cost 
A$/oz 

2005 43,530 343 456 

2006 73,736 349 463 

2007 71,464 420 501 

2008 78,252 478 560 

2009 75,089 534 674 

 342,071 433 538 

Table 1 – Historical mine performance on gold sold 

The original ore reserve of the mine was modelled on an A$627 per ounce gold price due to hedging commitments imposed 
by the financial institution that provided the project finance in 2004.  The mine predominantly operated under this hedged 
gold price until December 2008.  Calendar year 2009 was the first full year of production unhedged and the mine generated 
$39 million EBITDA. 

The Paulsens gold mine main zone has been mined down to a depth of 400 metres below surface.  Past production has 
mainly been sourced from two ore positions, (the upper and lower zone) located on the margins of a northwest plunging 
quartz-carbonate-sulphide vein, consisting of free milling quartz/sulphide gold mineralisation.  The Apollo zone was defined 
by exploratory development after production had commenced in 2005 and sits outside the main mineralisation corridor 
highlighting the potential for adjacent mineralisation not related to the Paulsen quartz/gabbro geological model. 
 
Gold Resources 

Mineral resources were estimated for Voyager 1 in December 2009 on the basis of sampling data and mineralisation 
interpretations provided by Intrepid.  The estimates are reported in compliance with the JORC code and total 314,000 tonnes 
@ 12.8g/t for 128,700 ounces of gold (4.0g/t Au lower cut-off) as per Table 2.  The figures in Table 2 are rounded to reflect 
the accuracy of estimates and include rounding errors. 
 

Indicated Resources Inferred Resources Totals 
Tonnes 

kt 
Grade 
Au g/t 

Total 
Au koz 

Tonnes 
kt 

Grade 
Au g/t 

Total 
Au koz 

Tonnes 
kt 

Grade 
Au g/t 

Total 
Au koz 

204 13.7 89.7 110 11.0 39 314 12.8 128.7 

 

Table 2 - Paulsens Voyager Resources @ 4.0g/t Au Lower Cut-Off (as at November 2009) 

The estimated Voyager 1 resource extends vertically for 200 metres from the 800 (400m below surface) to the 600 level.  
Stage 1 mine plan contains the production of 65,000 ounces between the 785 and 705 levels.  This mine plan has been 
derived from the Indicated Resource of 89,700 ounces and takes into account the upper zone and minor lower zone sections 
of the orebody.  Northern Star believes there is upside potential to the mine plan after further infill drilling of the lower zone 
section of the orebody. 
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The Voyager 1 resource excludes remnant resources above the 785 level, however the Company believes a re-assessment 
of the global resource of the mine needs to be conducted using a gold price of A$1,350 per ounce.  A preliminary review of 
historic mining has highlighted remnant areas that have the potential to add further ounces to the stage 1 mine plan.  
Northern Star plans to fully evaluate the remnant resource potential throughout the mine. 

Traditionally the mine has utilised a 4g/t cut off due to processing, mining and administration costs.  The stage 1 mine plan 
will only utilise 70% of mill capacity as the grade of the resource is higher than previous mine production.  This has created 
the opportunity for 100,000 tonnes per annum excess capacity, which could make incremental feed sources become viable. 
 
PAULSENS PROJECT PLAN – STAGED APPROACH 

Stage 1 - 65,000 oz Mine Plan "Pay off Acquisition" 

Stage 1 mine plan consists of mine production from the Voyager 1 resource of 65,000 ounces.  IAU invested $14 million to 
establish the stage 1 production centre which became cashflow positive from 1 June 2010 (Northern Star financial takeover 
point).  These ounces are expected to be produced from June 2010 to early 2011 generating $44 million in surplus cash 
based on a gold price of A$1,400 per ounce.  

Northern Star plans to continue the stage 1 mine plan to produce 65,000 ounces in order to satisfy debt and royalty 
obligations.  If successful, this will leave the Company debt free, with an operational mine and the potential to extend mine 
life. 

Subsequent to the year end all capital and operating development has been completed for the stage 1 mine plan.  The 
development face and stoping grades have come back higher than the predicted block model grades.  This positive grade 
reconciliation from ore production to date and infill drill results are progressively de-risking the stage 1 mine plan. 

This mine plan has only included a small portion of the lower zone resource, and with subsequent successful infill drilling it 
could have the potential to increase the mine plan for stage 1.  

The processing plant capacity is 28,500 tonnes per month and has been running at full capacity for the past 5 years with no 
surplus capacity to treat material below the 4g/t cut.  Stage 1 mine plan processes high grade ore which will produce 
historical gold production quantities from smaller tonnages.  This has the potential to create excess capacity of approximately 
8,500 tonnes per month.  This will create the opportunity to review previous areas as incremental feed sources provided they 
do not displace or delay the stage 1 mine plan.  The major contracts associated with the operation such as mining, power 
generation, crushing and accommodation have a large portion of fixed costs so any additional feed greatly assists the overall 
cost of production.  Early analysis by Northern Star has indicated that incremental material above 3g/t could be mined and 
processed profitably. 

Stage 2 - "Maintain Profitable Production" 

Stage 2 involves extending the Paulsens mine life so that production can continue past 2011.  The Voyager 1 lode already 
has an Inferred Resource estimate of 110,000 tonnes @ 11g/t for 39,000oz.  This mineralisation has had insufficient drilling 
to allow estimation of Indicated Resources.  Drilling from current underground drill platforms and from the surface has made 
it difficult to target mineralisation effectively.  It is the Company’s intention to allocate $5.5 million for Stage 2 exploration.  
This expenditure will go toward extending capital development, excavating purpose built drill platforms, resource expansion 
and infill drilling.  

Northern Star’s objective is to complete this exploration so that an updated resource model can be generated by early 2011.  
If successful the Company will translate this into the Stage 2 mine plan that will continue production throughout 2011.  

Stage 2 will also provide the initial platform to test the significant upside potential in the Paulsens Mine being the Stage 3, 
Voyager 2 mineralisation.  Voyager 2 is the predicted down-dip extension to the main Paulsens mineralised corridor. 

Stage 3 - "Find and Develop 5 year mine life" 
Stage 3 is a significant factor in Northern Star's decision to acquire the Paulsens gold mine.  The Company intends to drill 
extensively to define the predicted Voyager 2 mineralisation.  Initial exploration as stated earlier will occur during Stage 2 
activities.  Stage 3 will involve further capital development extensions to enable effective drill platforms for underground 
diamond drilling. 

The Company's ultimate goal is to prove up enough resources and reserves to generate a five year mine plan that can 
deliver production levels similar to historical mine performance.  
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EXPLORATION 
PAULSENS EXPLORATION - GOLD 

On purchasing the Paulsens Gold Mine from Intrepid, Northern Star inherited 365km2 of tenements surrounding the Mine, 
including a joint venture with Cullen Resources Ltd (Cullen 20% Interest).  A joint venture with Artemis Resource Ltd was 
also inherited (Northern Star 20% Interest), which includes an Indicated Resource of 526,000t @ 2.4g/t Au for 40,600 oz Au 
at their advanced Mt Clement gold project just 35km from Paulsens Gold Mine.  The resource is contained in a flat-lying 
oxidised stratabound horizon within 50m of surface, with mineralisation open in all directions.  Artemis recently discovered a 
steeply dipping high grade Au-Ag and Cu zone which is open along strike and at depth. 

Numerous gold targets exist on the Northern Star tenements, with the most advanced being the Belvedere project 7km south 
east of Paulsens Gold Mine which has numerous high grade gold drill intercepts.  Belvedere is on a granted Mining Licence 
and Northern Star will focus on determining if a resource can be estimated at Belvedere.  The remainder of the tenements 
will be systematically assessed for their exploration potential once available data is collated and validated. 

A detailed aeromagnetic survey is planned for late in 2010 to cover the entire tenement package, with the aim of providing 
additional exploration targets. 

CHEROONA & BEATTY PARK PROJECTS – COPPER/GOLD 
Northern Star won a strongly contested ballot for Exploration Licence Application (ELA) 51/1391 (Cheroona copper-gold 
Project) in the Murchison Mineral Field.  The 110km2 tenement straddles the highly prospective Bryah-Padbury and Yerrida 
basins, just 80km southwest of Sandfire Resources’ recently discovered Cu-Au rich DeGrussa Resource (10.67Mt @ 5.6% 
Cu, 1.9g/t Au, 15g/t Ag for 600Kt Cu, 660Koz Au and 5.1Moz Ag). 

The Cheroona project is located 70km north of Meekatharra, a major regional gold mining centre with adequate infrastructure 
to support exploration.  The tenement is easily accessible, being only 5km from the Great Northern Highway. 

The reason for the ballot being strongly contested by 15 applicants is the geological setting is very similar to that which hosts 
the DeGrussa Deposit.  This tenement and another tenement to the north west (Beatty Park Project) was applied for as part 
of a regional strategy undertaken by the company to acquire past producing copper/gold mines and prospective exploration 
targets. 

Both Cheroona and Beatty Park sit over the Upper Narracoota Volcanic formation, a volcano-sedimentary sequence which 
also hosts the DeGrussa VMS deposit and Horseshoe Lights Cu-Au mine.  VMS deposits tend to occur in clusters; for 
example Golden Grove/Jaguar in WA and the Bathurst Camp, Canada.  Given only 2 VMS style deposits have been located 
in the Bryah basin to date (due to past focus predominantly on gold exploration), an exciting new VMS camp may be 
emerging. 

Within a radius of 10 kilometres of the Cheroona Project, historic production from old workings in the Narracoota Volcanics 
has occurred at Mikhaburra/Holdens Find (7,300 oz Au), Cashman (7t @ 16% Cu for 1t Cu, 250oz Au) and Ruby Well (6,200 
oz Au).  An initial search on previous exploration activities located rock chip samples taken within the Cheroona tenement 
(Karalundi 2 to 6 prospects) returning multiple +1g/t Au assays ranging up to 10g/t Au.  Of significance is Karalundi 5, where 
18 samples taken over a 2km x 1.2km area returned 1-10g/t Au.  Data from the search is being compiled and entered into a 
database. 

In addition, shallow historic shafts occur at The Reef prospect (gold recovery unknown) on the tenement, where 50oz Au of 
alluvial gold was recovered.  The Reef and Karalundi prospects are immediate exploration targets.  

A detailed airborne magnetic-radiometric survey is planned to cover the Cheroona and Beatty Park projects, which include a 
total strike length of 25km of the Narracoota formation.  Resulting images will be used for interpreting lithology, structure, 
mineralised trends and alteration zones beneath cover.  They will also aid in improving the VMS Cu-Au mineralisation model 
or other models and ultimately define exploration targets.   

An airborne versatile time domain electromagnetic (VTEM) survey is planned to cover both projects in search for conductive 
Cu-Au anomalies.  Sandfire Resources flew VTEM over its tenements and defined a number of high priority drill targets. 

Northern Star are expediting the process from exploration licence application to grant stage as fast as practically possible.  
Once granted, field exploration activities can commence. 
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GOLDEN CROWN PROJECT - GOLD  

The Golden Crown project is located 30km southeast of Halls Creek and 4km northeast of the Palm Springs Gold Mine 
where production during the mid-1990’s recovered approximately 70,000 ounces of gold.  The Inferred Mineral Resource 
contains two deposits located about 600 metres along strike from each other; Golden Crown which contains approximately 
136,000 tonnes @ 3.8 g/t gold for 16,600 ounces and Faugh-a-Ballagh which contains approximately 187,000 tonnes @ 2.8 
g/t gold for 17,000 ounces.  A lower cut of 1 g/t Au was used for the Inferred Resource Estimate. 

The rapid increase in gold price during the annual reporting period resulted in a renewed focus on the existing Inferred 
Resource to determine if mining could be profitable.  Database validation and geological compilation / interpretation 
continued.  Structural mapping and diamond/RC drilling is being investigated, with the potential to add gold ounces to the 
resource from drilling.  

RANGE PROJECT - GOLD/SILVER  
The Company has previously focused on exploring for epithermal gold/silver mineralisation and systematically built a 
portfolio of exploration targets in the Kimberley based on a favourable geological model.  Drill results from advanced projects 
and subsequent epithermal model evaluations in 2008 suggested structures drilled to date may not have had the fluid flow 
required to develop economic mineralisation.  However, there is potential for supergene-enriched zones of gold/silver 
mineralisation in areas where the reefs outcrop.  Drill results at the Range highlighted a small but high grade exploration 
target located at the junction of the Trudi and Graham veins. 

Again, the rapid increase in gold price this reporting period resulted in a renewed focus on the Range as additional 
exploration has the potential to outline small tonnage but high grade mineralisation.  Existing drill and geochemical 
databases were validated and geological data collated.  Geological mapping is planned along strike to the west of the Trudi 
vein and drilling is being investigated in the same area as mineralisation is open along strike.  

EMULL PROJECT – ZINC/COPPER  

The Emull Prospect lies within the Red Billabong Project, 45km west of Halls Creek in the East Kimberley region.  Previous 
drilling at Emull proved +1% Zn and +0.5% Cu lenses within a broader +0.1% Cu-Zn envelope were open at depths up to 
150m vertical and remained open along strike.  This shallow drilling (<150m vertical) by Northern Star has also confirmed 
higher grade zinc intersections in at least three separate “shoots” within a 500m long mineralised trend. 

Compilation of RC drill data from previous reporting periods was completed and the database validated.  Geological 
assessment has highlighted the need for further RC drilling over the central portion of the mineralised copper-zinc envelope, 
which remains open along strike in both directions.  Diamond drilling is also required for structural information which will 
assist in future resource modelling.  Drill planning is underway. 

U3O8 EAST KIMBERLEY JOINT VENTURE – URANIUM  

Under the U3O8 Limited East Kimberley Uranium Joint Venture Agreement, Northern Star hold a free carried interest of 
10%, but retain the exclusive rights to explore for gold on these tenements.  

No work was completed by Northern Star during this reporting period. 

 

 

Competent Persons Statements 
The information in this announcement that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves in the ‘Exploration’ section of this annual 
report is based on information compiled by Mr Jason Boladeras, who is Exploration Manager for Northern Star Resources, a Member of the Australian 
Institute of Geoscientists and is employed by Geoarc Pty Ltd. The information in this announcement that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 
or Ore Reserves in the ‘Operations’ section of this annual report is based on information compiled by or under the supervision of Brook Ekers, Member AIG, 
who is a full-time employee of Northern Star Resources Ltd. Mr Boladeras and Mr Ekers have sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of 
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which each is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 
Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr Boladeras and Mr Ekers consent to the 
inclusion in the report of the matters based on their information in the form and context in which it appears. 

Forward Looking Statements 
Some of the information contained in this Announcement has been obtained from third parties and has not been independently verified by Northern Star. In 
particular the financial projections model on which the forward looking statements included in this Announcement has not been prepared by the Company 
and the Company has not undertaken any verification of the model. The Company takes no responsibility and is not liable for the projections in any way. 
Given the risks and uncertainties that may cause the Company’s actual future results, performance or achievements to be materially different from that 
expected, expressed or implied by the forward looking statements included in this announcement, undue reliance should not be placed on these 
statements.  Nothing contained in this Annual Report is a promise or representation as to the future. No assurance or representation is made by any person 
that any forecast or projection will be achieved.  Accordingly, investors must make their own investigations and inquiries regarding all assumptions, 
uncertainties and contingencies, which may affect the future operations of the Company.” 
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Directors’ Report 
 
The Directors present their report on the results of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2010 and the state of affairs at 
that date. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows: 
 
Directors 
The names of the Directors in office during the course of the year and at the date of this report are: 
Christopher K G Rowe (Chairman) 
William J (Bill) Beament (Managing Director) 
Peter C P Farris  
Michael G Fotios (appointed 09 Sept 2009) 
Terrence W Ransted (resigned 09 Sept 2009) 
 
Principal Activity 
The principal activities of the Company in the course of the year were the acquisition of mineral tenements, mineral 
exploration and investment.   
 
Operating Results 
The net loss of the Company for the year, after provision for  income tax amounted to $1,280,847 (2009: $4,664,644).  
 
Dividends 
No dividends were paid during the year and no recommendation is made as to dividends. 
 
Review of Operations 
During the year ending 30 June 2010, the Company followed a policy of rationalising existing assets and activities, whilst 
actively seeking strategic new acquisitions and corporately restructuring. 
 
Early in the year the Company significantly reduced exploration activity whilst preserving the most advanced assets.  Key 
tenements were retained covering the resource at Golden Crown, and mineralisation at the Range and Emull prospects.  The 
Company completed the disposal of its realisable assets in the Kimberley including fixed and mobile plant.  
 
At a General Meeting held on 4 September 2009 shareholders passed a number of resolutions including approvals of 
placements to cornerstone investor, Investmet Limited (to raise $187,500); the acquisition by Investmet Limited of the block 
of shares previously held by the Xstrata group; and conversion of outstanding debt to equity.  A two for five rights issue to 
shareholders raised a further $606,300 and provided the Company with a dynamic funding platform by way of a series of 
unlisted options.  An offer to shareholders by way of the Company’s share purchase plan was completed in August 2010 
raising a further $1.5m. 
 
During the year the Company reviewed a number of opportunities to acquire strategic assets, lodging proposals in respect of 
the most attractive.  In May 2010 the Company reached agreement to purchase the Paulsens Gold Mine in Western 
Australia's Pilbara region from Intrepid Mines Limited, providing an immediate entry to the Australian gold business.  Under 
the terms of the agreement, as revised late in June 2010, the Company will pay Intrepid a total of up to $40 million under a 
program of staged payments   Funding of the acquisition, which was approved by shareholders at a general meeting held on 
26 July 2010, is by means of a debt and equity package and from operating revenues.  In total, $2.13m has been raised by 
means of share placements approved by shareholders and a further $942,700 has been contributed to working capital from 
the exercise of options. 
 
The Company continued to review exploration opportunities with the main focus on gold/copper exploration and in May 2010 
made application for mineral tenements at Cheroona in the Murchison region of Western Australia. 
 
More details of the activities of the Company for the year, together with future prospects are set out in the Review of 
Operations section of the annual report. 
 
Significant Changes in State of Affairs 
The state of affairs of the Company was not affected by any significant changes during the year. 
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Directors’ Report - continued 
 
Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year  
After the year-end, the Company’s offer to Intrepid Mines Ltd for the purchase of the Paulsens Gold Mine was accepted and 
financing was approved. Paulsens is a high grade, low cost mine which will give the Company a direct entry into the 
Australian gold business and will provide the Company with immediate cashflow following the settlement on 30 July 2010. 
The purchase consideration is made up of an initial payment of $15 million, 2 instalments of $1.5 million and royalty 
payments of $335/ounce (up to a maximum of 51,000 ounces). There are also top up payments of $2.5 million to be made 
when gold production totals 57,500 ounces and 62,500 ounces. Intrepid also has the option to purchase the Paulsens plant 
and infrastructure for $1 in the event that gold production of 62,500 ounces is not achieved, or the top-up payments are not 
made. 
 
On 4 August 2010, a placement of 41,840,000 shares was completed in accordance with shareholder approval. The shares 
were issued at an issued price of 5c per share. In addition to this, 7,094,487 options were exercised at 2.5c per option on this 
date. 
 
On 26 August 2010, a placement of 4,950,000 shares was completed in accordance with shareholder approval. The shares 
were issued at an issue price of 5c per share. In addition to this, 4,062,003 options were exercised at 2.5c per option, 
268,663 options were exercised at 5c per option and 33,333 options were exercised at 10c per option on this date. 
 
On 9 September 2010 12,761,473 options were exercised at 2.5c per option and 89,266 options were exercised at 5c per 
option on this date. 
 
On 14 September 2010, 2,000,000 shares were issued at a deemed issued price of 5c per share as part consideration for 
mandated financial services provided in relation to funding of the acquisition of the Paulsens Gold Mine. In addition, 
1,000,000 free options exercisable at 5c each and 1,000,000 free options exercisable at 10c each were issued.  
 
On 24 September 2010, 4,000,000 shares were issued at a deemed issued price of 5c per share as part consideration for 
mandated financial services provided in relation to funding of the acquisition of the Paulsens Gold Mine. In addtion to this, 
1,333 options were exercised at 5c per option on this date.  
 
The proceeds of the share issues are to be applied to costs associated with the acquisition of Paulsens Gold Mine, the costs 
associated with the debt financing package for the acquisition of the Paulsens Gold Mine and to augment working capital. 
 
Other than as stated above, there were no matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year 
which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Company in financial years subsequent to the financial year ended 30 June 2010. 
 
Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations 
The Company intends to continue exploration programmes on its existing tenements, and to acquire further suitable 
tenements for exploration. Further information on the likely developments in the operations of the Company and the 
expected results of operations have not been included in these annual financial statements because the directors believe it 
would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company. 
 
Directors’ Qualifications, Experience and Special Responsibilities 

ROWE, Christopher Kenneth George, BA, MA Economics and Law (Chairman) Age 66  
Mr Rowe has practised as a lawyer both in the United Kingdom and in Western Australia before becoming a full time 
consultant to the mining and oil and gas industry.  He has been chairman or deputy chairman of a number of public listed 
mining and oil and gas related companies in Australia and North America holding both executive and non-executive 
positions.  Board positions with other listed public companies within the last three years are Tangiers Petroleum Ltd 
(chairman from April 2008), Advanced Healthcare Group (from June 2006 to April 2008) and Target Energy Ltd (chairman 
from January 2010) . 
Member of nomination and remuneration committees, member of audit committee. 

BEAMENT, William James (Bill) BEng-Mining (Hons) (Managing Director) Age 35 
Mr Beament is a mining engineer with more than 15 years experience in the resource sector in mine management including 
several senior management positions, including General Manager of the Eloise Copper Mine in Queensland and Operations 
manager for Barminco Limited with overall responsibility for 12 mine sites across Western Australia.  
Member of nomination committee. 
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Directors’ Report – continued 
 
FARRIS, Peter Charles Diploma Business Perth Tech, Diploma Business RMIT, MAICD (Non-executive Director) 
Age 65  
Mr Farris is a well respected and highly credentialed businessman in the Perth real estate industry and corporate advisory 
services.  He has managed and developed major real estate companies with turnovers in excess of $200 million and has 
extensive experience in company management.  Mr Farris has held no board positions with other listed companies during 
the last three years. Member of nomination and remuneration committees, member of audit committee. 
 
FOTIOS, Michael George, BSc (Hons) MAusIMM (Non-executive Director) Age 48  
Mr Fotios has qualifications in Geology specialising in Economic Geology with extensive experience in exploration 
throughout Australia working with gold, base metals, tantalum, tin and nickel from exploration to feasibility over the last 26 
years.  He previously held positions with Homestake Australia Limited and Sons of Gwalia Limited.  He was Managing 
Director and a director with Tantalum Australia NL (now ABM Resources Ltd) from September 1999 to October 2005.  He 
was Managing Director and a director with Galaxy Resources Limited from April 2006 to December 2008   
Member of nomination and remuneration committees, member of audit committee. 
 
Company Secretary  
Karen Elizabeth Vere Brown, BEc (Hons) Age 50 
Ms Brown is an honours graduate in economics from the University of Western Australia and is a director of Mineral 
Administration Services Pty Ltd which provides secretarial, financial and administration services to the Company.  Ms Brown has 
considerable experience in corporate administration of listed companies over a period exceeding 22 years, primarily in the 
mineral exploration industry. 
 
Meetings of Directors 
During the financial year, nine (9) meetings of directors were held.  There were three(3) Audit, three(3) Nomination and two 
(2) Remuneration Committee Meetings held during the financial year. 
 
The full Board carried out the functions of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees.   
 
The number of meetings attended by each director during the year is as follows:  
 
Director Number of Number of Committee Meetings 
 meetings held meetings 

attended  
Remuneration Nomination Audit 

Christopher K. G. Rowe 9 7 2 3 3 
William J Beament 9 9 2 3 3 
Terrence W. Ransted 1 1 - 1 - 
Micheal G. Fotios 8 8 2 2 3 
Peter C Farris 9 8 1 3 2 
 
Corporate Governance 
In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the directors of Northern Star 
Resources Ltd support and have adhered to the principles of corporate governance and have established a set of policies 
and manuals for the purpose of managing corporate governance.  The Company’s detailed corporate governance policy 
statement is contained in the additional Supplementary Information section of the annual report and can be viewed on the 
Company's web site at www.nsrltd.com. 
 
Environmental Issues 
The Company is subject to environmental regulation in respect to its mineral tenements relating to any exploration activity on 
those tenements.  No breaches of any environmental restrictions were recorded during the year.  Performance bonds are 
required by the Mines Department to cover environmental regulation rehabilitation.  
 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



10       Northern Star Resources

Northern Star Resources Ltd 

Page | 10 

Directors’ Report – continued 
 
Share Options 
Listed options to take up ordinary shares in the capital of Northern Star Resources Ltd granted and still outstanding at the 
date of this report are as follows: 
 
Unlisted options: 
 

Date options granted Number and class 
under option 

Issue/ 
exercise price of 

shares 
Exercise / expiry dates 

    
18 June 2007 100,000 $0.20 18 June 2012 
    
10 October 2007 1,500,000 $0.20 10 October 2010 
    
Unlisted options – 2,000,000 – divided into three classes as follows: 
03 December 2007 500,000 $0.20 Between 03 December 2007 and 16 November 2010 
03 December 2007 500,000 $0.25 Between 03 June 2008 and 16 November 2010 
03 December 2007 1,000,000 $0.35 Between 03 June 2009 and 16 November 2010 
 
Unlisted options – 1,000,000 – divided into five classes as follows: 
02 September 2008 400,000 $0.20 Between 02 Sept 2008 and 02 September 2011 
02 September 2008 150,000 $0.20 Between 27 February 2009 and 02 September 2011 
02 September 2008 150,000 $0.25 Between 07 November 2008 and 02 September 2011 
02 September 2008 150,000 $0.20 Between 27 February 2009 and 02 September 2011 
02 September 2008 150,000 $0.30 Between 07 November 2008 and 02 September 2011 
 
Unlisted options – 4,963,031 – divided into two classes as follows: 
06 July 2009 2,481,516 $0.05 04 September 2011 
06 July 2009 2,481,515 $0.10 04 September 2012 
    
Unlisted options – 5,036,968 – divided into two classes as follows: 
08 September 2009 2,518,484 $0.05 04 September 2011 
08 September 2009 2,518,484 $0.10 04 September 2012 
    
Unlisted options – 4,666,666 – divided into two classes as follows: 
07  September 2009 2,333,333 $0.05 04 September 2011 
07  September 2009 2,333,333 $0.10 04 September 2012 
 
Unlisted options – 29,880,000 – divided into three classes as follows: 
11September 2009 5,213,334 $0.025 04 September 2011 
11 September 2009 12,333,333 $0.05 Between 04 Sep 2010 and 04 Sep 2012 
11 September 2009 12,333,333 $0.10 Between 04 Sep 2011 and 04 Sep 2013 
    
Unlisted options – 28,580,760– divided into two classes as follows: 
14 October 2009 12,446,100 $0.05 04 September 2011 
14 October 2009 16,134,660 $0.10 04 September 2012 
    
Unlisted options – 750,000 – divided into three classes as follows: 
20 October 2009 250,000 $0.0575 20 Oct 2011 
20 October 2009 250,000 $0.0575 Between 20 Oct 2010 and 20 Oct 2012 
20 October 2009 250,000 $0.0575 Between 20 Oct 2011 and 20 Oct 2013 
    
Unlisted options – 750,000 – divided into three classes as follows: 
8 December 2009 250,000 $0.0575 08 Dec 2011 
8 December 2009 250,000 $0.0575 Between 08 Dec 2010 and 08 Dec 2012 
8 December 2009 250,000 $0.0575 Between 08 Dec 2011 and 08 Dec 2013 
    
Unlisted options – 2,000,000 – divided into two classes as follows: 
30 July 2010 1,000,000 $0.10 Between 30 July 2011 and 30 July 2012 
30 July 2010 1,000,000 $0.20 Between 30 July 2012 and 30 July 2013 
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Directors’ Report - continued 
 
Unlisted options (continued): 
 

Date options granted 
Number and 
class under 

option 

Issue/ 
exercise price of 

shares 
Exercise / expiry dates 

    
Unlisted options – 10,000,000 – divided into two classes as follows: 
30 July 2010 5,000,000 $0.05 30 July 2012 
30 July 2010 5,000,000 $0.075 30 July 2013 
    
Unlisted options – 2,000,000 – divided into two classes as follows: 
14 September 2010 1,000,000 $0.05 04 September 2011 
14 September 2010 1,000,000 $0.10 04 September 2012 
    
Total options 93,227,425   

 
No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the Company or any other entity.  
  
Directors’ Interests and Benefits 
a) Professional fees of $2,536 (2009: $42,613) were paid during the year to Multi Metal Consultants Pty Ltd, a company in 

which Mr Ransted has a substantial financial interest. 
b) Professional fees of $36,958 (2009 :$32,700) were paid during the year to Little Breton Nominees Pty Ltd, a company 

in which Mr. Rowe has a substantial financial interest. 
c) Professional fees of $24,313 (2009: $NIL) were paid during the year to Michael Fotios Family Trust, in which Mr. Fotios 

has a substantial financial interest. 
d) Professional fees of $28,292 (2009: $4,861) were paid during the year to Farris Corp, a company in which Mr. Farris 

has a substantial financial interest. 
e) Professional fees of $261,100 (2009: $ 79,925) were paid during the year to Mining and Infrastructure Group Pty Ltd, a 

company in which Mr. Beament has a substantial financial interest. 
 

This statement excludes a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by 
Directors as directors' fees and shown in the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the Corporations 
Regulations, or the fixed salary of a full-time employee. 
 
Remuneration Report 
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:  
 
A Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
B Details of renumeration 
C Service agreements  
D Share-based compensation. 
E Additional information 
 
The information provided within this remuneration report includes remuneration disclosures that are required under 
Accounting Standard AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’. These disclosures have been transferred from the financial 
statements and have been audited. 
 
A Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (audited) 
 
The objective of the Company's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and 
appropriate for the results delivered.  The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives and 
the creation of value for shareholders, and conforms with market best practice for delivery of reward.   
 
The Board ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward corporate governance practices: 

 competitiveness and reasonableness 
 acceptability to shareholders 
 transparency 
 capital management 
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Directors’ Report - continued 
 
Remuneration Report – continued 
The Company has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the 
reward strategy for the organisation. 
 
Non-executive directors 
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the 
directors.  Non-executive directors' fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board.  The Chairman's fees are 
determined independently to the fees of non-executive directors based on comparative roles in the external market.  The 
Chairman is not present at any discussions relating to determination of his own remuneration.   
 
Directors fees 
Directors' fees are determined within an aggregate directors' fee pool limit, which is periodically recommended for approval 
by shareholders.  The maximum currently stands at $150,000 in aggregate.  This amount is separate from any specific tasks 
the directors or their related entities may take on for the Company.  For example, Delta Resource Management Pty Ltd of 
which Mr Fotios is a principal, has provided some administration services for the Company, separate from Mr Fotios’ tasks 
as non-executive Director.  Their remuneration is set out below.  
 
The Company has no performance based remuneration component built into director and executive remuneration packages.  
 
B Details of remuneration (audited) 
 

  2010 
$ 

 2009 
$ 

Directors' income paid or payable or otherwise made 
available to Directors of the Company 

  
695,217 

  
424,238 

 
There are no executive officers of the Company other than directors. 
 
The key management personnel of Northern Star Resources Ltd are the following: 

• K E V Brown – Company Secretary 
 
Key management personnel and other executives of the Company 
 
 Short-term 

benefits 
Post-employment 

benefits 
Long term benefits Share-based 

payment 
Total 

 
Name Cash salary 

and fees 
$ 

Superannuation 
 

$ 

  
 

$ 

 
 

$ 
Executive Director of Northern Star Resources Ltd 
2010      
WJ Beament 274,986 2,187 - 171,020 448,193 
Total 274,986 2,187 - 171,020 448,193 
2009      
WJ Beament 257,008 15,938 24,303# 39,668 336,917 
Total 257,008 15,938 24,303# 39,668 336,917 

Non-executive Directors of Northern Star Resources Ltd 
2010      
C Rowe* 36,958 - - 13,155 50,113 
T Ransted 4,452 401 - - 4,853 
P Farris** 28,292 625 - 7,274 36,191 
M Fotios*** 24,313 -  131,554 155,867 
Total 94,015 1,026 - 151,983 247,024 
2010 notes 
*The director’s cash fees ($36,958) in respect of Mr Rowe were paid to Little Breton Nominees Pty Ltd, a company with which he is associated. 
**The directors’ cash fees ($28,292) and superannuation ($625) in respect of Mr Farris were paid to Farris Corporation Pty Ltd, a company with which he is 
associated. 
***The director’s cash fees ($24,313) in respect of Mr Fotios were paid to the Micheal Fotios Family Trust, an enity with which he is associated. The options 
were issued in the name of Delta Resource Management, an enity with which he is associated 
 # Payment towards leave accrued on termination as employee and prior to being appointed as a consultant. 
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Directors’ Report - continued 
 
Remuneration Report - continued 
Non-executive Directors of Northern Star Resources Ltd 
 Short-term 

benefits 
Post-employment 

benefits 
Long term benefits Share-based 

payment 
Total 

 
Name Cash salary 

and fees 
$ 

Superannuation 
 

$ 

  
 

$ 

 
 

$ 
2009      
C Rowe* 32,700 - - - 32,700 
T Ransted 25,000 2,250 - - 27,250 
P Langworthy** 20,250 1,823 - - 22,073 
P Farris*** 4,861 437 - - 5,298 
Total 82,811 4,510 - - 87,321 
2009 notes 
*The director’s cash fees ($32,700) in respect of Mr Rowe were paid to Little Breton Nominees Pty Ltd, a company with which he is associated. 
**In respect of Mr Langworthy, director’s cash fees ($12,500) and superannuation ($1,125) were paid to Xstrata Nickel, of which he was an employee and 
cash fees ($7,750) and superannuation ($698) were paid to Jericho Exploration Pty Ltd, a company with which he is associated. 
***The directors’ cash fees ($4,861) and superannuation ($437) in respect of Mr Farris were paid to Farris Corporation Pty Ltd, a company with which he is 
associated. 
 # Payment towards leave accrued on termination as employee and prior to being appointed as a consultant.. 

Other key management personnel  
2010      
K Brown 31,750 - - 8,770# 40,520 
2009      
K Brown 30,000 - - - 30,000 
Corporate administration, accounting & company secretarial fees paid to Mineral Administration Services Pty Ltd, a company with which Ms Brown is 
associated. 
# Options were issued to Mineral Administration Services Pty Ltd, a company with which Ms Brown is associated. 
 
No long term or termination benefits were paid in the current or previous financial year. 
 
C Service Agreements (audited) 
 
BEAMENT, WILLIAM JAMES (BILL)  
Term of Agreement  
The current contract was entered into for the provision of services by way of consultancy at a daily rate of $1,250 for services 
rendered.  The agreement will be terminated on occurrence of any of the events mentioned in the agreement. 
 
D Share-based compensation (audited) 
 
During the financial year, 28,750,000 options were granted to the employees. The 28,750,000 options are exercisable at the 
vesting dates listed below: 

Date options 
granted 

Number and 
class under 

option 

Issue/ 
exercise price of 

shares 
Value at grant 

date Exercise / expiry dates 

07 Sep 2009 2,333,334 $0.025 - 04 September 2010 
07 Sep 2009 2,333,333 $0.05 - 04 September 2011 
07 Sep 2009 2,333,333 $0.10 - 04 September 2012 
11 Sep 2009 7,000,000 $0.025 $96,555 04 September 2010 
11 Sep 2009 7,000,000 $0.05 $77,050 Between 04 Sep 2010 and 04 Sep 2012 
11 Sep 2009 7,000,000 $0.10 $62,477 Between 04 Sep 2011 and 04 Sep 2013 
08 Dec 2009 250,000 $0.0575 $3,468 08 Dec 2011 
08 Dec 2009 250,000 $0.0575 $4,318 Between 08 Dec 2010 and 08 Dec 2012 
08 Dec 2009 250,000 $0.0575 $4,983 Between 08 Dec 2011 and 08 Dec 2013 
 
Fair value of options granted  
The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account 
the exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable 
nature of the option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend 
yield, the share price at grant date and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 
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Directors’ Report - continued 
 
Remuneration Report - continued 
D Share-based compensation (audited) continued… 
 
Details of options over ordinary shares in the company provided as remuneration to each director of Northern Star Resources 
Ltd and each of the key management personnel of the Company are set out below.  
 
Name Number of options granted Number of options vested 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Directors of Northern Star Resources Ltd     
W Beament 21,100,000 - 10,100,000 1,000,000 
C Rowe 2,808,000 - 1,808,000 - 
P Farris 750,000 - 250,000 - 
M Fotios # 15,000,000 - 5,000,000 - 
     
#These options were issued in the name of Delta Resource Management, an enity with which he is associated 
 
Name Number of options granted Number of options vested 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Other Key Management personnel     
K Brown # 1,000,000 - 333,334 - 

# Options were issued in the name of Mineral Administration Services Pty Ltd, a company with which Ms Brown is associated  

Options were granted for no consideration as a one off incentive bonus. The options carry no dividend or voting rights and 
are exercisable during the vesting period. When exercised, each option is convertible into one ordinary share. 
 
E    Additional information (audited) 
 
 Cash Bonus Options 

 
 

Name Paid 
% 

Forfeited 
% 

Year granted 
% 

Vested 
% 

Forfeited 
% 

Financial years 
in which options 

may vest 
$ 

C Rowe - - 2010 64% - 2011 - 2013 
W Beament - - 2010 48% - 2011 - 2013 
M Fotios - - 2010 33% - 2011 - 2013 
P Farris - - 2010 33% - 2011 - 2013 
 
Share –based compensation: Options 
 
Name 

A 
Remuneration 
consisting of 

options 

B 
Value at grant date 

$ 

C 
Value at exercise 

date 
$ 

D 
Value at lapse 

date 
$ 

E 
Total of columns 

B-D 
$ 

C Rowe 
W Beament 
M Fotios 
P Farris 

31% 
44% 
87% 
31% 

16,863 
219,219 
168,630 
12,770 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

16,863 
219,219 
168,630 
12,770 

 
Insurance of Officers and auditors 
During the financial year, Northern Star Resources Ltd incurred a premium to insure the directors, secretary and/or officers of 
the Company.  

The liability insured is the indemnification of the Company against any legal liability to third parties arising out of any 
Directors or Officers duties in their capacity as a Director or Officer. 

No liability has arisen under this indemnity as at the date of this report. 

The Company has in place deeds of indemnity with each of the Directors.   

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of 
the Company or of any related body corporate, against a liability incurred as such by an officer or auditor. 
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Directors’ Report - continued 
 
AUDIT INDEPENDENCE AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

Auditors' independence -section 307C 
 
The following is a copy of a letter received from the Company's auditors: 
 

“The Directors 
Northern Star Resources Ltd 
PO Box 8178 
Perth Business Centre  WA  6849 
 
Dear Sirs, 
 
In accordance with Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 (the “Act”) I hereby declare that to the best of 
my knowledge and belief there have been: 
i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Act in relation to the audit of the 30 

June 2010 annual financial statements; and 
ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
Graham R Swan (Lead auditor) 
Rothsay Chartered Accountants 
Dated 28 September 2010” 

 
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor: 
  2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 
Audit services       
Audit and review of financial statements under the 
Corporations Act 2001 

  
20,000 

  
20,000 

 
Non-audit services 
No other services were provided by the auditor. 
 
 
 
Signed at Perth in accordance with a resolution of Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
Bill Beament 
Managing Director 
 
Dated this 28th day of September 2010 
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Directors’ Declaration 
 
 
In the opinion of the Directors of  Northern Star Resources Ltd: 
 
(a) the financial statements and notes set out on the following pages are in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001 including: 
 

i. giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2010 and of its 
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and  

 
ii complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 

professional reporting requirements ; and  
 
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 

due and payable. 
 
(c) the audited remuneration disclosures set out in the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124  

Related Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
 
 
The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Bill Beament 
Managing Director 
 
PERTH 
Dated this 28th day of September 2010 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income  
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
 NOTES 2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 

Revenue from continuing operations     

Interest income  7,703  23,511 

Rent from property  -  9,395 

Revenue from disposal of assets  -  - 

Total revenue from continuing operations  -  32,906 

Expenses     

Administration and secretarial services  (34,416)  (63,706) 

Consultancy/Advisory fees  (173,065)  (10,880) 

Audit fees 11 (20,000)  (20,000) 

Depreciation   (15,343)  47,555 

Employee benefits   (16,874)  52,017 

Exploration expensed   (201,591)  (4,190,218) 

Insurance  (14,728)  (19,271) 

Interest expense  (2,713)  - 

Office rent, ancillaries and running  (58,179)  (61,707) 

Personnel & support  (333,193)  (334,336) 

Public relations  (21,945)  (5,329) 

Share registry and ASX listing fees and other corporate costs  (36,183)  (37,280) 

Share based payments  (339,962)  - 

Loss on disposal of assets  (2,215)  (33,608) 

Other expenses from continuing operations  (18,143)  (20,787) 

Total Expenses  (1,288,550)  (4,697,550) 

(Loss) before income tax expense  (1,280,847)  (4,664,644) 

Income tax expense  12 -  - 

(Loss) for the year   (1,280,847)  (4,664,644) 

     

Other comprehensive income  -  - 

     
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  attributable to members 
of Northern Star Resources Ltd  (1,280,847)  (4,664,644) 

     

     

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 13 (0.83c)  (4.79c) 

Diluted earnings per share are not disclosed as they are not 
materially different to basic earnings per share.     

 
 
 
 
 

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2010 
 
 NOTES 2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 

ASSETS     

CURRENT ASSETS     

Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,095,248  152,326 

Receivables 4 143,672  46,581 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  1,238,920  198,907 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Receivables 4 33,333  63,889 

Property, Plant & Equipment 5 5,738  54,461 

Capitalised Exploration & Evaluation expenditure 6 4,503,037  3,646,433 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  4,542,108  3,764,783 

TOTAL ASSETS  5,781,028  3,963,690 

LIABILITIES     

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Trade and Other Payables 7 696,543  289,161 

Provisions 8 -  10,435 

Current Borrowings 9 -  127,347 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  696,543  426,943 

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Borrowings 10 -  15,733 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  696,543  442,676 

NET ASSETS  5,084,485  3,521,014 

EQUITY     

Contributed Equity 2 13,349,124  10,822,898 

Reserves 20 590,713  272,621 

Accumulated Losses 20 (8,855,352)  (7,574,505) 

TOTAL EQUITY  5,084,485  3,521,014 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

Attributable to members of Northern Star Resources Ltd 
 

 

 
 

Notes 

Contributed 
equity 
$’000 

Reserves 
$’000 

Retained 
earnings 

$’000 

Total 
equity 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2008  10,296 325 (2,910) 7,711 

      

Profit/(Loss) for the financial period 20b - - (4,665) (4,665) 

Total comprehensive income / (loss)  
for the year 

 - - (4,665) (4,665) 

      

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs 

2 527 - - 527 

Share based payments 20a - (52) - (52) 

Balance at 30 June 2009  10,823 273 (7,575) 3,521 

 
Attributable to members of Northern Star Resources Ltd 

 

 

 
 

Notes 

Contributed 
equity 
$’000 

Reserves 
$’000 

Retained 
earnings 

$’000 

Total 
equity 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2009  10,823 273 (7,575) 3,521 
      

Profit/(Loss) for the financial period 20b - - (1,280) (1,280) 
Total comprehensive income / 
(loss)  for the year  - - (1,280) (1,280) 

      
Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs 2 2,503 - - 2,503 

Transfer from option reserve  23 (23) - - 
Share based payments 20a - 340 - 340 

Balance at 30 June 2010  13,349 590 (8,855) 5,084 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
 NOTES 2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Payments to Suppliers & Employees (inclusive of goods and 
services tax)  

 
(470,307)  

 
(456,082) 

     

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities 19 (470,307)  (456,082) 

     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Receipt on sale of property, plant & equipment  36,818  304,300 

Payment for Plant & Equipment  (5,653)  (9,915) 

Payment for Exploration and Evaluation  (1,058,195)  (1,627,212) 

Interest received  7,703  23,511 

Rent received from property  -  9,395 

Increase/( Decrease) in payables  -  1,613 

Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities  (1,019,327)  (1,298,308) 

     

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Proceeds form issue of shares  2,576,318  554,096 

Cost of share issue   (28,460)   (26,932) 

Borrowings received  27,778  105,000 

Repayment of borrowings incl interest  (143,080)  (26,109) 

Lease repayments  -  (36,237) 

Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities  2,432,556  569,818 

     

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  942,922  (1,184,572) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year  152,326  1,336,898 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 3 1,095,248  152,326 

     

     
 
Non -Cash investing and financing activities 
 
 2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 
Acquisition of motor vehicle by means of mortgage loan -  - 
Acquisition of field equipment my means of loan -  - 

 
 
 
 
 

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

2010 2009F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Annual Report 2010     21

Annual Report 2010 

Page | 21 

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

a. Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards,  other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues 
Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.   
Historical cost convention 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.  

b. Income Tax 
The income tax expense or revenue for the year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income based on 
the national income tax rate, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities  attributable to temporary 
differences and to unused tax losses.  
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of  assets and liabilities  and  their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the Balance date and 
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is 
settled 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and 
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly 
in equity.  

c. Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
Expenditure on acquisition, exploration and evaluation relating to an area of interest is carried forward where rights 
to tenure of the area of interest are current and: 
i)  the area has proven commercially recoverable reserves; or 
ii) exploration and evaluation activities are continuing in an area of interest but have not yet reached a stage which 
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. 
At the end of each financial year the Directors assess the carrying value of the exploration expenditure carried 
forward in respect of each area of interest and where the carried forward carrying value is considered to be in 
excess of (i) above, the value of the area of interest is written down or provided against. 
Capitalised exploration expenditure is considered for impairment based upon areas of interest on an annual basis, 
depending on the existence of impairment indicators including: 

• the period for which the Company has the right to explore in the specific area has expired during the 
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed; 

• substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area 
is neither budgeted or planned; 

• exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of 
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the Company has decided to discontinue such 
activities in the specific area; and  

• sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the 
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful 
development or by sale. 

 
Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest that is abandoned are written off in the year in  which the 
decision to abandon is made. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
d. Mineral Tenements 

The Company's activities in the mining industry are subject to regulations and approvals including mining heritage, 
environmental regulation, the implications of the High Court of Australia decision in what is known generally as the 
"Mabo" case and any State or Federal legislation regarding native and mining titles. Approvals, although granted in 
most cases, are discretionary. The question of native title has yet to be determined and could effect any mining title 
area whether granted by the State or not. 
 

e. Cash and cash equivalents 
 For Statement of Cash Flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits 

held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. 

 
f. Property, Plant and equipment 

 Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis 
so as to write off the net cost of each asset during their expected useful life of 3 to 5 years. 

 Depreciation on building is calculated on straight line basis to write off the net cost during their useful life of 20 
years. 

 

g. Employee Benefits 
 Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 

twelve (12) months of the reporting date are recognised in provisions and are measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liability is settled. 

 
h. Share-based payments  

Where shares or options are issued to employees, including directors, as remuneration for services, the difference 
between fair value of the shares or options issued and the consideration received, if any, from the employee is 
expensed. The fair value of the shares or options issued is recorded in contributed equity. 
 

i. Fair value estimation 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. 
The carrying value value, less impairment provision, of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. 
 

j. Goods and Services Tax (GST)  
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST,  except where the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item.  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with receivables or payables in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

 
k. Impairment of assets 

Assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from 
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).  

 Non-financial assets, other than goodwill, that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting date. 

 Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
l. Revenue Recognition 

Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis using the effective interest method.  
 
m. Trade Payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.  

 
n. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation and it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.  

 
o. Leases 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases.  Finance leases are capitalised.Leases in which a significant portion of 
the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating. Payments made under 
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

 
p. Contributed Equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown 
in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.  

 
q.  Earnings per share 

 Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the profit (loss) after income tax attributable to equity holders of 
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 

 
r. Segment Reporting 

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject  
to risks and returns that are different to those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in 
providing products or services within a particular economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are 
different from those of segments operation in other economic environments. 

 
s. New accounting standards and interpretations 
 Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are mandatory for 30 June 2010 

reporting periods. 
 

Affected Standard Nature of Change to Accounting Policy Application * 
AASB 3 : Business 
Combinations 

Incorporates the following changes: 
- The definition of a business has been broadened, 

which is likely to result in more acquisitions being 
treated as business combinations 

- Contingent consideration will be measured at fair 
value, with subsequent changes therein recognised 
in profit or loss 

- Transaction costs, other than share and debt issue 
costs, will be expensed as incurred 

- Any pre-existing interest in an acquire will be 
measured at fair value with gain or loss recognised in 
profit or loss; and 

- Any non-controlling (minority) interest will be 
measured at either fair value, or at its proportionate 
interest in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the 
acquire, on a transaction-by-transaction basis. 

AASB 3 will be applied prospectively and therefore there will be 
no impact on prior periods. 

1 July 2009 

* Applicable to reporting periods commencing on or after the given date  
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
s. New accounting standards and interpretations (continued) 
 

Affected Standard Nature of Change to Accounting Policy Application * 
Revised AASB 127 : 
Consolidated and 
Separate Financial 
Statements  

Changes in ownership interests by the Group, while 
maintaining control, are now recognised as an equity 
transaction. When the Group losses control of a subsidiary, 
any interest retained in the former subsidiary will be measured 
at fair value with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. 
The amendments are not expected to have a significant impact 
on the financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2010. 

1 July 2009 

AASB 123 : Borrowing 
costs 

The option of expensing borrowing costs relating to qualifying 
assets has been eliminated, and instead the standard requires 
capitalisation. 

1 January 2009 

AASB 2007-10 : Further 
amendments arising 
from AASB 101 

This amending standard changes the term ‘general purpose 
financial report’ to ‘general purpose financial statements’, and 
the term ‘financial report’ to ‘financial statements’ to better align 
with IFRS terminology. 

1 January 2009 

AASB 2009-2 : 
Improving disclosure 
about Financial 
Instruments 

Amends AASB 7 Financial Instruments : Disclosures to require 
enhanced disclosures about fair value measurements and 
liquidity risk.  

1 January 2009 

AASB 2009-4 and 
2009-6 : Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards 

Affects various AASBs resulting in minor changes for 
presentation, disclosure, recognition and measurement 
purposes. The amendments are not expected to have a 
significant impact on the financial statements for the year 
ending 30 June 2010. 

1 January 2009 

2009-7 : Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards 

Affects various AASBs resulting in minor changes for 
presentation, disclosure, recognition and measurement 
purposes. The amendments are not expected to have a 
significant impact on the financial statements for the year 
ending 30 June 2010. 

1 July 2009 

 * Applicable to reporting periods commencing on or after the given date  
 
t. New accounting standards and interpretations applicable in future periods 
 

The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have mandatory 
application dates for future reporting periods.  The Company has decided against early adoption of these 
standards. A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the Compay follows: 

 

AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights Issues [AASB 132] 
(effective from 1 February 2010) 

In October 2009 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation which addresses 
the accounting for addresses for rights issues that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency 
of the issuer. Provided certain conditions are met, such rights issues are now classified as equity regardless of the 
currency in which the exercise price is denominated. Previously, these issues had to be accounted for as derivative 
liabilities. The amendment must be applied retrospectively in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The Company will apply the amended standard from 1 July 2010. As 
the Company has not made any such rights issues, the amendment will not have any effect on the Company’s 
financial statements. 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (effective from 1 January 2013) 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets and is likely to affect 
the Company’s accounting for its financial assets. The standard is not applicable until1 January 2013 but is available 
for early adoption. The Company is yet to assess its full impact. The Company has not yet decided when to adopt 
AASB 9. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
t. New accounting standards and interpretations applicable in future periods (continued) 

 

Revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(effective from 1 January 2011) 

In December 2009 the AASB issued a revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. It is effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 and must be applied retrospectively. The amendment removes the 
requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government and other 
government-related entities and clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party. The Company will apply the 
amended standard from 1 July 2011. The amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the financial 
statements of the Company. 
AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments and AASB 2009-13 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 19 (effective from 1 July 2010) 

AASB Interpretation 19 clarifies the accounting when an entity renegotiates the terms of its debt with the result that 
the liability is extinguished by the entity issuing its own equity instruments to the creditor (debt for equity swap). It 
requires a gain or loss to be recognised in profit or loss which is measured as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued. The Company will apply the 
interpretation from 1 July 2010, with retrospective application required. The Company has not yet determined the 
potential effect of the interpretation. 

None of the other amendments or Interpretations are expected to affect the accounting policies of the Company. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
Critical accounting estimates & judgements  

 
In preparing these Financial Statements, the Company has been required to make certain estimates and 
assumptions concerning future occurrences. There is an inherent risk that the resulting accounting estimates will 
not equate exactly with actual events and results. 
 

i) Significant accounting judgements 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements:  
Capitalisation of exploration and evaluation expenditure 
The Group has capitalised significant exploration and evaluation expenditure on the basis either that this is 
expected to be recouped through future successful development (or alternatively sale) of the Areas of Interest 
concerned or on the basis that it is not yet possible to assess whether it will be recouped. 

ii) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and 
assumptions of future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting 
period are: 
Impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 
The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on an number of 
factors, including whether the Company decides to exploit the related lease itself, or, if not, whether it 
successfully recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale. 
Factors that could impact the future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, future 
technological changes, costs of drilling and production, production rates, future legal changes (including 
changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices. 

 As at 30 June 2010, the carrying value of exploration expenditure is $4,498,617. 
 

  2010  2009 
 Number $ Number $ 
NOTE 2 – CONTRIBUTED EQUITY  
a) Share Capital      
 Ordinary shares - Fully paid  205,902,801 13,349,124 99,260,631 10,822,898 

Movement in ordinary share capital     
 At 1 July  99,260,631 10,822,898 90,758,090 10,295,734 
 Placement  33,640,000 1,119,500 8,491,941 551,976 

Debt to Equity 7,000,000 87,500 - - 
Exercise of options 9,577,895 323,513 10,600 2,120 
Rights Issue 48,504,275 606,303 - - 
Share purchase plan 7,920,000 396,000 - - 
Transfer from option reserve - 21,870 - - 

 Less: costs of issues - (28,460) - (26,932) 
 At 30 June  205,902,801 13,349,124 99,260,631 10,822,898 
 
Terms and conditions of ordinary shares: 
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 
share at shareholders’ meetings.  In the event of winding up of the company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other 
shareholders and creditors are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidations. F
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
  2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 
NOTE 3 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
(Current assets) 

    

     
Cash at Bank and on hand  131,622  6,172 
Cash on Deposit (at call)  963,626  146,154 
  1,095,248  152,326 
     
 
(a) Cash at bank bears nil interest per annum. 
(b) Cash on deposit bears interest at 4.08% (2009 – 2.73% per annum) 
 
NOTE 4 – TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  
Current assets 

    

     
GST Receivable  100,932  1,850 
Prepayments  3,851  8,620 
Vendor finance receivable  38,889  36,111 
  143,672  46,581 
     
Non-Current assets     
Vendor finance receivable  33,333  63,889 
  33,333  63,889 
 
 
 

Vehicles 
 
 
 

$ 

Furniture, 
 Computers 

 and 
equipment 

$ 

Property 
 
 
 

$ 

Other 
Assets 

 
 

$ 

Total 
 
 
 

$ 
NOTE 5 –PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT  
(Non – current assets) 

     

Year ended 30 June 2010      
Opening net book amount 38,119 16,342 - - 54,461 
Additions/transfers 4,545 1,107 - - 5,652 
Disposals/tranfers (39,032) - - - (39,032) 
Depreciation charge (3,632) (11,711) - - (15,343) 
Closing net book amount - 5,738 - - 5,738 
      
At 30 June  2010      
Cost - 49,765 - - 49,765 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation - (44,027) - - (44,027) 
Net book value - 5,738 - - 5,738 
      
Year ended 30 June 2009      
Opening net book amount 69,006 46,171 307,720 12,002 434,899 
Additions/transfers 6,956 14,960 - - 21,916 
Disposals/tranfers (90,154) (33,177) (314,577) (12,002) (449,910) 
Depreciation charge 52,311 (11,612) 6,857 - 47,556 
Closing net book amount 38,119 16,342 - - 54,461 
      
At 30 June  2009      
Cost 125,438 48,657 - - 174,095 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (87,319) (32,315) - - (119,634) 
Net book value 38,119 16,342 - - 54,461 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
  2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 
NOTE 6 – OTHER ASSETS -     
(Non – current assets)     
EXPLORATION & EVALUATION EXPENDITURE     
Exploration & Evaluation expenditure costs brought forward 
in respect of areas of interest  

    

Balance 1 July  3,646,433  6,209,439 
Expenditure during year comprising     
Exploration  1,058,195  1,627,212 
Less expensed to profit or loss   (201,591)  (4,190,218) 
Balance 30 June   4,503,037  3,646,433 
     
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is recorded at historical cost on an area of interest basis. Recovery of these costs is 
dependent upon the commercial success of future exploration and development or realisation by disposal of the interests 
therein.  
There may exist on the Company's exploration properties, areas subject to claim under native title or containing sacred sites 
or sites of significance to Aboriginal people.  As a result, exploration properties or areas within the tenements may be subject 
to exploration and mining restrictions.  
 
NOTE 7 –TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  
(Current liabilities) 

    

     
Trade payables  696,543  289,161 
     
Trade payables are unsecured and payable on supplier credit terms, usually payable within 30 days of recognition. The 
Company has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.  
 
NOTE 8 – PROVISIONS  
(Current liabilities ) 

    

     
Employee benefits – accumulated annual leave  -  10,435 
     
 
NOTE 9 –CURRENT BORROWINGS  
(Current liabilities ) 

    

     
Loan Insurance premium funding  -  10,233 
Other loans  -  66,237 
Loan from directors including interest  -  50,877 
  -  127,347 
     
 
NOTE 10– BORROWINGS  
(Non - Current liabilities ) 

    

     
Loan   -  15,733 
  -  15,733 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
  2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 
NOTE 11- AUDITORS' REMUNERATION     
     
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for 
services provided by the auditor: 

    

(a) Audit services    20,000  20,000 
 Audit and review of financial statements under 

the Corporations Act 2001 
    

(b) Non-audit services  -  - 
     

Total remuneration of auditors  20,000  20,000 
 
The Company has received notification from the Company's auditor that he satisfies the independence criterion and that there 
have been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code 
of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   
 
NOTE 12 - INCOME TAXES      
 
(a) Income Tax Expense 

    

Current tax   -  - 
Deferred tax  -  - 
  -  - 
     
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to 

prima facie tax payable 
    

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense  (1,280,847)  (4,664,644) 
Prima facie tax payable  at 30%  (384,254)  (1,399,393) 
Add tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in 
calculating taxable income: 

    

Share-based payments  101,988  (15,605) 
Adjustments in respect of deferred income tax of previous 
years  -  1,860,757 

Tax losses not brought to account as a deferred tax  282,266  (445,759) 
Tax benefit relating to timing differences and tax losses not 
recognised 

 -  - 

     
(c) Tax losses     
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised 

    

Potential tax benefit at 30%  1,762,374  1,480,108 
     
(d) Unrecognised temporary differences     
Deferred tax liabilities – Capitalised Exploration  (1,350,911)  (1,093,930) 
Prepaid expenditure  (1,155)  (2,586) 
  (1,352,066)  (1,096,516) 
     
Deferred tax assets – Employee entitlements  -  3,130 
Deferred tax assets – Revenue tax losses  1,762,374  1,480,108 
Net deferred tax asset not recognised  1,762,374  1,483,238 

Net deferred tax asset/(liability)  410,308  386,722 
     
Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset as they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 
there is a legally recognised right to set off. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
  2010 

Cents 
 2009 

Cents 
NOTE 13 – EARNINGS / LOSS PER SHARE     
(a)  Basic loss per share     
Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company 

  
(0.83) 

  
(4.79) 

 
  2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 
(b)  Earnings used in calculating earnings per share     
Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company  (1,280,847)  (4,664,644) 

 
  2010 

Number 
 2009 

Number 
(c)  Weighted average number of shares used as the 

denominator 
    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year used in calculation of basic earnings per share `  154,557,568  97,466,944 

 
NOTE 14 - COMMITMENTS 
 
Mining Tenement Leases 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements the Company is required to perform minimum 
exploration work to meet the minimum expenditure requirements specified by the WA State Government.  
The estimated exploration and joint venture expenditure commitments for the ensuing year, but not recognised as a liability 
in the financial statements : 
  2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 
 Within one year  166,953  140,000 
 Later than one year but less than five years  94,047  - 
 Later than five years  -  - 
 
This expenditure will only be incurred should the Company retain its existing level of interest in its various exploration areas 
and provided access to mining tenements is not restricted.  
 
NOTE 15 - SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 
 
The Company operates only in Australia and predominantly in the area of mineral exploration in Western Australia. 
 
NOTE 16 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Mr Fotios is a shareholder of Investmet Ltd, a company that was paid, during the year, $24,000 (2009: $Nil) for professional 
services in the normal course of business at commercial rates. 
 
Mr Fotios is a shareholder of Delta Resource Management, a company that was paid, during the year, $161,319 (2009: $Nil) 
for professional services in the normal course of business at commercial rates. 
 
Mr Ransted (a former director) is a director and shareholder of Multi Metal Consultants Pty Ltd, a company that was paid, 
during the year, $2,536 (2009: $42,613) for professional services in the normal course of business at commercial rates. F
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 17 – KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE 
a) Directors 
The following persons were directors of Northern Star Resources Ltd during the year 
(i) Chairman – non executive 
 Christopher K G Rowe 
 
(ii) Executive directors 
 William J (Bill ) Beament  
 
(iii) Non – executive directors 
 Peter C P Farris  
 Michael G Fotios 
 
a) Other key management personnel 

Ms Karen Brown – the Company Secretary , also had the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Company , directly or indirectly during the financial year. 
 
b) Transactions with key management personnel 

The sum of $31,750 was due and payable for corporate administration, accounting & company secretarial services to Mineral 
Administration Services Pty Ltd, a company with which Ms Brown is associated. 
 
c) Outstanding balances 
The following balances are outstanding during at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 
Current payables – Director’s fees including superannuation contributions 

a) Christopher Rowe (Little Breton Nominees)    7,333 
b) Peter Farris ( Farris Corp)   2,750 
c) Micheal Fotios (Micheal Fotios Family Trust) 2,750 

Current payables – other service fees  
 Investmet Limited (M Fotios)    6,600 
 Delta Resource Management (M Fotios)    113,091 
 

 
d) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel 
Name  Shares Held 

Directly 
Shares Held 

Indirectly 
Options Held 

Directly 
Options Held 

Indirectly 
C Rowe (Director) - 4,581,152 - 4,094,043 
W Beament (Director) - 4,396,666 - 21,133,332 
M Fotios (Director) - 48,976,394 - 47,803,980 
P Farris (Director) - 1,872,096 - 836,666 
K E V  Brown (Company Secretary) 21,000 700,000 6,000 1,199,998 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2009 
 
NOTE 17 – KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE - continued 
 
The interests of Directors and their Director related entities in shares and options at the end of the financial period are as 
follows: 
 
1)Shares 
2010 
 
Name 

Balance at the start 
of the year 

Received during 
the year on 

exercise of options 
Other changes 
during the year 

Balance at the end 
of the year 

Directors of Northern Star 
Resources Ltd     
C Rowe 2,650,000 - 1,931,152 4,581,152 
W Beament - 2,246,666 2,150,000 4,396,666 
P Farris 8,764 173,332 1,690,000 1,872,096 
M Fotios - - 48,976,394 48,976,394 
Key Management Personnel     
K E V Brown 515,000 - 206,000 721,000 
Total shares 3,173,764 2,419,998 54,953,546 60,547,308 
 
(2) Options  
2010 
 
Name 

Balance at the 
start of the year Granted Exercised/ Lapsed 

Balance at the end 
of the year 

Directors of Northern Star 
Resources Ltd 

    

C Rowe - 4,094,043 - 4,094,043 
W Beament 2,000,000 21,379,998 (2,246,666) 21,133,332 
P Farris  - 1,009,998 (173,332) 836,666 
M Fotios - 47,803,980 - 47,803,980 
Key Management Personnel     
K Brown - 1,205,998 - 1,205,998 
Total options 2,000,000 75,494,017 (2,419,998) 75,074,019 
 
1)Shares 
2009 
 
Name 

Balance at the start 
of the year 

Received during the 
year on exercise of 

options 
Other changes 
during the year 

Balance at the end 
of the year 

Directors of Northern Star 
Resources Ltd 

    

C Rowe 3,235,275  (585,275) 2,650,000 
W Beament - - - - 
P Farris  - 8,764 - 8,764 
T Ransted 2,467,501 - - 2,467,501 
Key Management Personnel     
K E V Brown 500,000 - 15,000 515,000 
Total shares 6,202,776 - (570,275) 5,641,265 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 17 – KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE - continued 
 
(2) Options  
2009 
 
Name 

 
Balance at the start 

of the year Granted 
Exercised/Other 

changes 

 
Balance at the end 

of the year 
Directors of Northern Star 
Resources Ltd 

    

C Rowe 26,539 - (26,539) - 
W Beament 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 
P Farris  - - - - 
T Ransted 5,161,250 - (5,161,250) - 
Key Management Personnel     
K Brown 40,000 - (40,000) - 
Total options 7,227,789 - (5,227,789) 2,000,000 

 
e) Key Management Personnel compensation 

 
 2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Short – term employee benefits 369,001 339,819 
Post – employment benefits 3,213 20,448 
Long-term benefits - 24,303 
Termination benefits - - 
Share based payments 323,003 39,668 
 695,217 424,238 
 
The Company has taken advantage of the relief provided by Corporation Regulation 2M.6.04 and has transferred the 
detailed remuneration disclosures to the Director’s Report. The relevant information can be found in sections A-C of the 
remuneration report within the Director’s Report. 
 
f) Related party transactions 
Other than the transactions disclosed above there are no other transactions between related parties that require disclosure. 
 
NOTE 18– FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The company and group have exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments: 
(a) credit risk 
(b) liquidity risk 
(a) market risk 

 
This note presents information about the company’s and group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 

 
The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. 
Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the group through regular reviews of the 
risks. 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a varirty of financial risks. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 18– FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued 
 
(a) Credit Risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Company.  Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with finanical institutions .The Company has 
adopted the policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.  The Company measures credit risk on a fair 
basis. 
 
The Company does not have any significant credit risk exposure to a single counterparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for losses, represents the 
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the fair value of any collateral or other security 
obtained. 
 

 The Company has no finanical assets that are neither past due nor impaired therefore credit qualities have not been 
disclosed. 

 
(i) Trade and other receivables: 
The Company has established an allowance for impairment that represents their estimate of incurred losses in respect of 
receivables and investments.  The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to 
individually significant exposures.  The management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.  
 
Exposure to credit risk: 
The carrying amount of the Company’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  

 Carrying amount 
 2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,095,248 152,326 
Trade and other receivables 143,672 110,470 
Total exposure 1,238,920 262,796 

 
Net Fair Value 
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements represents their 
respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 1 to the accounts. 
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1 to the accounts. 
 
(b) Liquidity Risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close-out market positions.  Due to the dynamic 
nature of the underlying businesses, Company Treasury aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit 
lines available, ensuring the Company has sufficient working capital and preserving the 15% share issue limit available to the 
Company under the ASX Listing Rules. 
 
Maturities of finanical liabilities 
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate by maturity periods is set out 
in the following tables 
 
The following table details the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk as at the reporting date: 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 18– FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued 
 
 

Financial Instruments Floating interest rate Non-interest bearing 
Total carrying amount as 

per the statement of 
financial position 

Weighted average 
effective interest rate 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ % % 
(i) Financial assets         
Cash   200 6,172 200 6,172 - - 
Trade and other receivables - - 177,005 110,470 177,005 110,470 - - 
Deposits 1,095,048 146,154 - - 1,095,048 146,154 4.08 2.73 
Total financial assets 1,095,048 146,154 177,205 116,642 1,272,253 262,796   

         

(ii) Financial liabilities         
Trade and other creditors - - 696,543 289,161 696,543 289,161 - - 
Other creditors - 80,000 - - - 80,000 - 10% 
Loan  - 30,968 - - - 30,968 - 13.76% 
Loan - 21,002 - - - 21,002 - 17.15% 
Other liabilities - - - 21,545 - 21,545   
Total financial liabilities - 131,970 696,543 310,706 696,543 442,626   

 
(a) Market Risk 
(i) Foreign exchange risk 
The Company does not operate internationally and is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 
 
(ii) Price risk 
The Company does not have investments in equity securities and is not exposed to price risk. 

 
(iii) Interest rate risk 
Although the Company has significant interest bearing assets, the Company’s income and operating cash flows are 
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Company monitors interest rates to obtain the best terms 
and mix of cash flow. 

 
At balance date the Company had minimal exposure to interest rate risk, through its cash and equivalents held within 
financial institution.  

 Carrying Amount 
 30 June 2010 

$ 
30 June 2009 

$ 
Fixed rate instruments   
Financial assets - - 

Variable rate instruments   

Financial assets 1,272,253 262,796 

 
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments: 
There was no exposure to fixed rate instruments at balance date or at the previous reporting period. 
 
Fair value sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments: 
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and 
profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.  The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 18– FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued 

 
Consolidated Profit or loss Equity 

 100 bp 
 increase 

100bp 
decrease 

100 bp 
increase 

100 bp 
decrease 

30 June 2010     
Cash and cash equivalents 10,952 (10,952) 10,952 (10,952) 
30 June 2009     
Cash and cash equivalents 2,628 (2,628) 2,628 (2,628) 

 
Net Fair value 
For unlisted investments where there is no organised financial market, the net fair value has been based on a 
reasonable estimation of the underlying assets of the investment.  
 
For other assets and other liabilities the net fair value approximates their carrying value as disclosed in the Statement 
of Financial Position. 

 
NOTE 19 – RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 
  2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 
     
(Loss) for the year  (1,280,847)  (4,664,644) 
     
Non Cash Flows in Operating Profit(Loss)     
 Depreciation  15,343  (47,555) 

Loss on sale of assets  2,215  33,608 
Rent from property  -  (9,395) 

 Movements in Provisions  (10,435)  1,076,598 
 Exploration written off  201,591  3,117,139 

Interest income  (7,703)  (23,511) 
Employee benefit – share-based payment  339,962  (52,017) 

Change in operating assets and liabilities     
Decrease (Increase) in Receivables  (94,313)  1,060 
(Decrease) Increase in Accounts Payable  363,880  111,526 
Non operating cash flows  -  1,109 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) by Operating Activities  (470,307)  (456,082) 
 
     
NOTE 20 – RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES     
     
(A) RESERVES     
Share-based payments reserve  590,713  272,621 
     
Movement:     
Balance 1 July  272,621  324,638 
Option expense  339,962  62,320 
Options exercised  (21,870)  - 
Options expired  -  (114,337) 
Balance 30 June  590,713  272,621 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 20 – RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES – continued 
 
  2010 

$ 
 2009 

$ 
     
(B) ACCUMULATED LOSSES     
Balance 1 July  (7,574,505)  (2,909,861) 

Loss for the year after related income tax expense  (1,280,847)  (4,664,644) 

Balance 30 June  (8,855,352)  (7,574,505) 

 
(C) NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES 
The share based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of; options  issued to employees but not exercised 
and equity-settled benefits issued in settlement of  share issue costs and part consideration, in lieu of cash payment, for 
acquisition of mineral interests.  
 
NOTE 21 – EVENTS OCCURING AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 
 
After the year-end, the Company’s offer to Intrepid Mines Ltd for the purchase of the Paulsens Gold Mine was accepted and 
financing was approved. Paulsens is a high grade, low cost mine which will give the Company a direct entry into the 
Australian gold business and will provide the Company with immediate cashflow following the settlement on 30 July 2010. 
The purchase consideration is made up of an initial payment of $15 million, 2 instalments of $1.5 million and royalty 
payments of $335/ounce (up to a maximum of 51,000 ounces). There are also top up payments of $2.5 million to be made 
when gold production totals 57,500 ounces and 62,500 ounces. Intrepid also has the option to purchase the Paulsens plant 
and infrastructure for $1 in the event that gold production of 62,500 ounces is not achieved, or the top-up payments are not 
made. 
 
On 4 August 2010, a placement of 41,840,000 shares was completed in accordance with shareholder approval. The shares 
were issued at an issued price of 5c per share. In addition to this, 7,094,487 options were exercised at 2.5c per option on this 
date. 
 
On 26 August 2010, a placement of 4,950,000 shares was completed in accordance with shareholder approval. The shares 
were issued at an issued price of 5c per share. In addition to this, 4,062,003 options were exercised at 2.5c per option, 
268,663 options were exercised at 5c per option and 33,333 options were exercised at 10c per option on this date. 
 
On 9 September 2010 12,761,473 options were exercised at 2.5c per option and 89,266 options were exercised at 5c per 
option on this date. 
 
On 14 September 2010, 2,000,000 shares were issued at a deemed issued price of 5c per share as part consideration for 
mandated financial services provided in relation to funding of the acquisition of the Paulsens Gold Mine. In addition, 
1,000,000 free options exercisable at 5c each and 1,000,000 free options exercisable at 10c each were issued.  
 
On 24 September 2010, 4,000,000 shares were issued at a deemed issued price of 5c per share as part consideration for 
mandated financial services provided in relation to funding of the acquisition of the Paulsens Gold Mine. In addtion to this, 
1,333 options were exercised at 5c per option on this date. 
 
The proceeds of the share issues are to be applied to costs associated with the acquisition of Paulsens Gold Mine, the costs 
associated with the debt financing package for the acquisition of the Paulsens Gold Mine and to augment working capital. 
 
Other than as stated above, there were no matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year 
which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Company in financial years subsequent to the financial year ended 30 June 2010. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 22 – SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
 
An Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) was established and reapproved by shareholders at the 2006 annual general 
meeting, to provide long-term incentive for senior employees to deliver long-term shareholder returns. Participation in the 
plan is at the Board’s discretion and no individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to receive any 
guaranteed benefits.  
Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.When exercisable, each option is convertible into one 
ordinary share.  
Set out below are a summary of the options granted by the Company under the plan: 

Grant Date Expiry date Exercise 
price 

Balance at 
the start of 

the year 
(Number) 

Granted 
during the 

year 
(Number) 

Lapsed 
during the 

year 
(Number) 

Balance at 
end of the 

year 
(Number) 

Vested and 
exercisable at end 

of the year 
(Number) 

As at 30 June 2010       
18 June 2007 18 June 2012 $0.20 100,000 - - 100,000 100,000 
03 Dec 2007 16 Nov 2010 $ 0.20 500,000 - - 500,000 500,000 
03 Dec 2007 16 Nov 2010 $ 0.25 500,000 - - 500,000 500,000 
03 Dec 2007 16 Nov 2010 $ 0.35 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 
02 Sep 2008 02 Sep 2011 $0.20 400,000 - - 400,000 400,000 
02 Sep 2008 02 Sep 2011 $0.20 150,000 - - 150,000 150,000 
02 Sep 2008 02 Sep 2011 $0.25 150,000 - - 150,000 150,000 
02 Sep 2008 02 Sep 2011 $0.20 150,000 - - 150,000 150,000 
02 Sep 2008 02 Sep 2011 $0.30 150,000 - - 150,000 150,000 

Weighted average exercise price $0.26 - - $0.26 $0.26 
 

As at 30 June 2009       
18 June 2007 18 June 2012 $0.20 100,000 - - 100,000 100,000 
03 Dec 2007 16 Nov 2010 $ 0.20 500,000 - - 500,000 500,000 
03 Dec 2007 16 Nov 2010 $ 0.25 500,000 - - 500,000 500,000 
03 Dec 2007 16 Nov 2010 $ 0.35 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 
02 Sep 2008 02 Sep 2011 $0.20 - 400,000 - 400,000 400,000 
02 Sep 2008 02 Sep 2011 $0.20 - 150,000 - 150,000 150,000 
02 Sep 2008 02 Sep 2011 $0.25 - 150,000 - 150,000 150,000 
02 Sep 2008 02 Sep 2011 $0.20 - 150,000 - 150,000 150,000 
02 Sep 2008 02 Sep 2011 $0.30 - 150,000 - 150,000 150,000 

Weighted average exercise price $0.28 $0.22 - $0.26 $0.26 
 
No options covered in the above table were exercised during the year.  
 
(A)  Director  option expense 
No options were granted to the directors during the year. 
 
(B)  Employee option expense 
28,750,000 options were issued to the employees (in their capacity as employees) during year with exercise prices of 2.5 
cents, 5 cents and 10 cents. The assessed fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option 
pricing model that takes into account the exercise price ($0.025),($0.05),($0.10), the term of the options, the vesting and 
performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the option, the share price at grant date and expected 
price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 
 
(C)  Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions 
Total expenses arising from share-based payments recognised during the year as employee benefits expense was:   
 

 2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

Director benefits (share options) 323,003 39,668 
Employee benefits (share options) - 22,652 
Other benefits (share options) 16,959 - 
 339,962 62,320 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Annual Report 2010     39

Annual Report 2010 

Page | 39 

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
 
NOTE 22 – SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - continued 
 
(D)  Effect on equity arising from share-based payment transactions 
 
Total amount arising from share-based payments recognised during the year in equity as an increase in share-based 
payments reserve and increase in cost of share issue was: 
 

 2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

Equity-settled   - - 
   

 
NOTE 23 –CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
No contingent liabilities or assets have arisen during the finanical period. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
Northern Star Resources Ltd ("Company") has adopted systems of control and accountability as the basis for the 
administration of corporate governance.  Some of these policies and procedures are summarised below. 
 
The following additional information about the Company's corporate governance practices is set out on the Company's 
website at www.nsrltd.com: 

• Corporate Governance Disclosures and explanations; 

• Statement of Board and Management Functions (Board Charter); 

• Nomination Committee Charter; 

• Policy and Procedure for Selection and Appointment of New Directors; 

• Summary of Code of Conduct for Directors and Key Executives; 

• Summary of Policy for Trading in Company Securities; 

• Audit Committee Charter; 

• Procedure for Selection, Appointment and Rotation of External Auditor; 

• Summary of Policy and Procedure for Compliance with Continuous Disclosure Requirements; 

• Shareholder Communication Strategy; 

• Summary of Company's Risk Management Policy and Internal Compliance and Control System; 

• Peformance Evaluation Process 

• Remuneration Committee Charter; and 

• Corporate Code of Conduct. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH PRINCIPLES OF GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
AND BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Company, during the financial year ended 30 June 2010 (the Reporting Period), has continued to follow the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations (2nd edition) 
(ASX Principles and Recommendations).  
 
Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight by the Board 
 
Recommendation 1.1 
Companies should establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to senior executives and disclose 
those functions. 
 
The Board has adopted a charter setting out the purpose and role of the Board, its responsibilities and powers and the way 
in which the Board functions.  This charter is available on the Company’s website. 
 
Formal letters of engagement setting out key terms and conditions of appointment are in place for non executive directors 
and the Managing Director is employed pursuant to a service agreement which includes a formal job description. 
 
The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by: 
 
(a) supervising the Company’s framework of control and accountability systems to enable risk to be assessed and 

managed; 
(b) ensuring the Company is properly managed; 
(c) approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital management, and acquisitions and 

divestitures; 
(d) approval of the annual budget; 
(e) monitoring the financial performance of the Company; 
(f) approving and monitoring financial and other reporting; 
(g) overall corporate governance of the Company; 
(h) liaising with the Company’s external auditors and Audit Committee; and 
(i) monitoring and ensuring compliance with all of the Company's legal obligations, in particular those obligations 

relating to the environment, native title, cultural heritage and occupational health and safety. 
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Corporate Governance Statement - continued 
 
The Board may from time to time, delegate some of its responsibilities listed above to its senior management team (except 
for paragraphs (a), (b), (f) and (g) and where any matter exceeds the Materiality Threshold). 
 
The role of management is to support the Managing Director and implement the running of the general operations and 
financial business of the Company, in accordance with the delegated authority of the Board. 
 
Recommendation 1.2 
Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives. 
 
Performance evaluation in respect of the Company Secretarial functions is carried out by the Chairman as part of his review 
of the Board.   
 
It is the responsibility of the Managing Director to manage and implement performance evaluation of other senior executives 
and management, reporting to the Board (as the Nomination and Remuneration Committees) at least annually. 
 
The current size and structure of the Company allows the Managing Director to conduct informal evaluation regularly.  Open 
and regular communication with senior personnel allows the Managing Director to ensure that key performance indicators 
are identified and met, and provide feedback and guidance particularly where performance or mismanagement issues are 
evident.  Approximately annually individual performance may be more formally assessed in conjunction with a remuneration 
review. 
 
Recommendation 1.3 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 1. 
 
During the Reporting Period a performance evaluation of the Company Secretarial functions was carried out by the 
Chairman as part of the review of the Board and the Managing Director monitored performance of non-executive senior 
personnel on an ongoing basis in accordance with the Company’s policy. 
 
Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value 
 
Recommendation 2.1 
A majority of the Board should be independent directors. 
 
In accordance with the Constitution of the Company, all directors, other than the Managing Director, must retire from office 
no later than the third annual general meeting following their last election and that one third of the directors are to retire from 
office at each annual general meeting.  Where eligible, a director may stand for re-election. 
 
During the Reporting Period the directors were: 
• Mr Christopher Kenneth George Rowe, independent non executive Chairman, appointed to the Board on 20 February 

2003.  
Mr Rowe is considered to be independent in accordance with the criteria for independence (Independence Criteria) set 
out in the ASX Principles and Recommendations 

• Mr William James Beament, Managing Director appointed to the Board on 20 August 2007. 
Mr Beament is an executive director and therefore is not considered independent. 

• Mr Peter Charles Pritchard Farris non executive director, appointed to the Board on 22 April 2009. 
Mr Farris is a director of substantial shareholder, Investmet Limited and therefore, in accordance with the Independence 
Critieria would not be considered to be independent.  However, the Board consider that Mr Farris is able to exercise 
independence of mind in all matters except in areas where a declared interest, such as his relationship to Investmet 
Limited could, or could be perceived to, lead to conflicts of interests.  It is noted that Mr Farris does not participate in 
discussions of matters in which he could be considered to have an interest 

• Mr Michael George Fotios, non-executive director, elected to the Board on 4 September 2009. 
Mr Fotios is a director and significant shareholder of Investmet Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company, and 
therefore is not considered independent in accordance with the Independence Criteria. 

 
Profiles of the current directors are set out in the Directors’ Report. 
 
Whle corporate governance guidelines recommend a majority of the board be independent, the Board consider that the 
Company’s level of activities and financial status to date did not warrant a larger board and that relevant experience and 
familiarity with the Company’s activities and strategies are a priority over independence. 
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Corporate Governance Statement - continued 
 
If a director considers it necessary to obtain independent professional advice to properly discharge the responsibility of his 
office as a director then, provided the director first obtains approval for incurring such expense from the Chairman, the 
Company will pay the reasonable expenses associated with obtaining such advice. 
 
Recommendation 2.2 
The Chair should be an independent director. 
 
The Chairman, Mr Rowe, is a non executive director and, as noted above, is considered independent. 
 
Recommendation 2.3 
The roles of the Chair and Chief Executive Officer should not be exercised by the same individual. 
 
The positions of Chair (Mr Rowe) and Chief Executive Officer (Mr Beament) are held by different individuals. 
 
Recommendation 2.4 
The Board should establish a nomination committee. 
 
The full Board comprises the nomination committee which operates in accordance with the nomination committee charter 
(which is available on the Company’s website).   
 
Candidates for the Board are considered and selected by reference to a number of factors which include, but are not limited 
to, their relevant experience and achievements, compatibility with other Board members, credibility within the Company's 
scope of activities, and intellectual and physical ability to undertake Board duties and responsibilities. Directors are initially 
appointed by the full Board, subject to election by shareholders at the next general meeting. 
 
In the event of any conflicts of interest arising in relation to Nomination Committee matters, the Committee ensures that the 
relevant director is not party to those discussions. 
 
Recommendation 2.5 
Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its committees and individual directors. 
 
Evaluation of the Board and its members is carried out by way of an ongoing review by the Chairman, discussing issues as 
they arise and, periodically conducting interviews with each director.  The full Board reviews the performance of the 
Managing Director on an ongoing basis.  During the Reporting Period formal reporting of perfomance evaluations was 
received on one occasion. 
 
Recommendation 2.6 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2. 
 
There were three meetings of the Board as the nomination committee during the Reporting Period and in addition a number 
of informal discussions took place with regard to nomination committee issues.  Performance evaluation of the Board, 
including the Managing Director, and key management personnel was carried out during the Reporting Period in accordance 
with the process as outlined.   
 
In addition to the information provided in this corporate governance statement, the Company has also included a description 
of the procedure for the selection and appointment of directors in the corporate governance section of the Company’s 
website. 
 
Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 
 
Recommendation 3.1 
Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code as to the practices 
necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity; the practices necessary to take into account their legal 
obligations and the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders; and the responsibility and accountability of individuals for 
reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices. 
 
The Board has adopted a code of conduct setting out the standard which the Board, management and employees of the 
Company are encouraged to comply with when dealing with each other, shareholders and the broader community  
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Corporate Governance Statement - continued 
 
Recommendation 3.2 
Companies should establish a policy concerning trading in Company securities by Directors, senior executives and 
employees, and disclose the policy or a summary of that policy. 
 
A formal securities trading policy has been adopted whereby Directors and employees should not deal in the Company’s 
securities while in possesion of price sensitive information nor without first seeking the ackowledgement of the Chairman or 
his designated deputy.  Short term trading of the Company’s securities is discouraged. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules, the Company on behalf of each 
Director must advise ASX of any transactions conducted by them in the securities of the Company. 
 
A review of the securities trading policy is being carried out in the context the Company’s changing circumstances (including 
levels of activity and increased workforce) and the implementation of amendments to the ASX Listing Rules. 
 
Recommendation 3.3 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 3. 
 
The Company’s corporate code of conduct and a summary of the securites trading policy are available in the corporate 
governance section of the Company’s website. 
 
Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
 
Recommendation 4.1 
The Board should establish an audit committee. 
 
Given the small size of the Board and its limited activities as a mineral explorer, it was considered that a separate audit 
committee was not necessary and that the full Board as a whole should fulfil the functions of the audit committee, operating 
under the committee charter.  However, subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period and as the Company progressed 
towards becoming an operating miner, the Board agreed that the non-executive directors would form a separate audit 
committee and consequently the Managing Director will not participate in future audit committee activities. 
 
Recommendation 4.2 
The audit committee should be structured so that it consists only of non-executive directors; consists of a majority of 
independent directors; is chaired by an independent chair who is not chair of the board; and has at least three members. 
 
The chair of the Audit Committee is currently Mr Rowe who is also Chairman of the Board.  Mr Rowe is considered by the 
Board to be the most appropriate person to chair the Audit Committee given his extensive experience.  Further, given the 
size and level of activity of the Company to date and the division of authority between the Chairman and management, the 
Board does not consider that a different chair for the Audit Committee would further enhance the operation of that committee.  
 
Recommendation 4.3 
The audit committee should have a formal committee charter. 
 
The committee operates in accordance with the Audit Committee charter.  A copy of this charter is available in the corporate 
governance section of the Company’s website. 
 
Recommendation 4.4 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4. 
 
The audit committee, reviews the Company’s financial reporting systems on an ongoing basis.  During the Reporting Period 
the Board met three times as the audit committee and formalised its findings on one further occasion.   
 
The Company has established procedures for the selection, appointment and rotation of its external auditor.  A copy is 
available in the corporate governance section of the Company’s website. 
 
The Board is responsible for the appointment of the external auditor.  A review of the external auditor in terms of their 
independence and performance in relation to the adequacy of the scope and quality of the annual statutory audit and half-
year review and the fees charged is carried out annually.  The external auditor is required in place to ensure rotation of the 
audit partner in accordance with statutory and professional obligations.   
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Corporate Governance Statement - continued 
 
Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 
Recommendation 5.1 
Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements 
and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and disclose those policies or a summary of 
those policies. 
 
The Board has adopted a formal continuous disclosure policy and procedures for compliance with ASX continuous 
disclosure requirements.  The policy and procedures aim to promote a culture of compliance with regulations and to prevent 
any breaches (or to identify and respond to any breach that may occur). 
 
Recommendation 5.2 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 5. 
 
A summary of the Company’s disclosure policy is available in the corporate governance section of the Company’s website. 
 
Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders 
 
Recommendation 6.1 
Companies should design a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders and 
encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a summary of that policy. 
 
In addition to the formal continuous disclosure policy, the Company has adopted a shareholder communciation strategy.  All 
information disclosed to ASX is posted on the Company’s website as soon as it is disclosed to ASX.  When analysts are 
briefed on aspects of the Company’s operations, the material used in the presentation is released to ASX and posted on the 
Company’s website.   
 
Hard copies of publicly released documents are available from the Company on request. 
 
Shareholders are given a reasonable opportunity to ask questions of the Board at general meetings.  The external auditor is 
invited to such meetings to answer questions from shareholders on matters relating to the audit of the Company’s financial 
statements. 
 
Recommendation 6.2 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 6. 
 
A copy of the Company’s shareholder communication guidelines strategy is available in the corporate governance section of 
the Company’s website. 
 
Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk 
 
Recommendation 7.1 
Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and disclose a summary 
of those policies. 
 
The Board has adopted an internal control framework and a risk management policy designed to ensure operational, legal 
and financial risks are identified, assessed, addressed and monitored.  During the Reporting Period it was considered that 
the level of activities of the Company did not warrant formation of a separate risk management committee and the Board as 
a whole peformed this role, having responsibility for oversight of risk management and internal controls.  Day-to-day 
responsibilities rest with the Managing Director. 
 
Risks identified as being of specific relevance to the Company included exploration, evaluation and environmental risks; 
general economic and share market risks; native title and tenure risks; risks relating to joint venture parties, agents and 
contractors; risks assocated with future capital requirements and with potential acquisitions; risk relating to resource and 
mineralisation estimations; and risks associated with reliance on key personnel.  Since the end of the Reporting Period and 
consequent on the successful acquisition of the Paulsens Gold Mine, the Company’s risk profile has changed significantly 
and a comprehensive review of the risk management policy, procedures and register will be conducted. 
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Corporate Governance Statement - continued 
 
Recommendation 7.2 
The Board should require management to design and implement the risk management and internal control system to 
manage the Company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being managed effectively  The 
Board should disclose that management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the Company’s management of its 
material business risks. 
 
As stated above, the Managing Director has responsibility for the day-to-day implemenation of risk management internal 
control system.  He is assisted in this by senior personnel within their specific areas of responsibility.  Reporting on key areas 
of risk and risk management are periodically included in the agenda for Board meetings. 
 
Recommendation 7.3 
The Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief 
financial officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is 
founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all 
material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 
 
The Board requires the Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer to state in writing that the Company’s financial 
reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s financial condition and operational results and 
are in accordance with relevant accounting standards; that this opinion is founded on a sound system of risk management 
and internal compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board; and that the Company’s risk 
management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects. 
 
Recommendation 7.4 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 7. 
 
A summary of the Company’s risk management policy and internal compliance and control system is available in the 
corporate governance section of the Company’s website. 
 
Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and reasonably 
 
Recommendation 8.1 
The Board should establish a remuneration committee. 
 
During the Reporting Period the remuneration committee comprised the full Board.  Subsequent to the end of the Reporting 
Period the Managing Director stepped down from the remuneration committee which is now comprised of the three non-
executive directors, Messrs Rowe, Farris and Fotios.  The remuneration committee operates in accordance with the 
remuneration committee charter  
 
The committee operates in accordance with the remuneration committee charter.  A copy of this charter is available in the 
corporate governance section of the Company’s website 
 
Recommendation 8.2 
Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration form that of executive directors 
and senior executives. 
 
Non-executive directors are entitled to receive fees from an annual aggregate fee pool available as approved by 
shareholders from time to time.  These fees, payable as fixed salary or as consultancy fees, are quoted as inclusive of any 
statutory superannuation component. 
 
Executive directors and senior executives are entitled to receive a base salary and incentive compensation where 
appropriate.  The Board reviews executive packages annually by reference to the Company’s performance, executive 
performance and comparable information from industry sectors and other companies in similar industries. 
 
Recommendation 8.3 
Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8. 
 
Details of remuneration, including a summary of the Company’s policy on remuneration, are contained in the “Remuneration 
Report” which forms part of the Directors’ Report. 
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Corporate Governance Statement - continued 
 
During the Reporting Period the Board met twice to consider remuneration matters.  No director participated in any 
deliberation regarding his own remuneration or related issues, in particular, the Managing Director was not present during 
deliberations in respect of his service agreement. 
 
In reviewing remuneration of non executive directors, the Board takes into consideration the ASX Principles and 
Recommendations.  Other matters taken into consideration include the size of the Company and its operations; access to 
ongoing funding; priority for available funds to be directed to operations, exploration, evaluation and acquisitions; and 
requirements to attract and retain quality members of the Board.  Given these considerations, the Board is of the opinion that 
incentive options should be considered as a valid alternative in assessing appropriate remuneration for both executive and 
non executive directors.   
 
There are no termination or retirement benefits for non-executive directors (other than appropriate statutory or salary 
sacrifice superannuation). 
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Supplementary Information 
Additional information included in accordance with Listing Rules of ASX Limited 
 
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
as at 30 September 2010 
 
1. ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES - NST 

a) Distribution of Shareholders 

Shareholders Number of Holders 
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 

1 – 1,000  39 

1,001 – 5,000  38 

5,001 – 10,000  116 

10,001 – 100,000  607 

100,001 – over  301 

  1,101 
 
 
b) There are 42 holders who hold less than a marketable parcel. 
 
c) Voting rights are are set out in clause 7.8 of the Company’s Constitution.  In summary, on a show of  hands 

every member present in person or by proxy, attorney or representative shall have one vote and in the event 
of a poll every such member shall be entitled to on vote for each ordinary fully paid share held. 

 
d) The substantial shareholders as disclosed in substantial holding notices received by the Company are: 
 Investmet Limited 54,954,528 shares 
 
e) Top twenty shareholders 

Shareholder Number of 
Shares 

% Issued 
Capital 

Investmet Limited 54,954,528 19.42 

Valentino Nominees Pty Ltd 10,000,000 3.53 

Delta Resource Management Pty Ltd 7,600,000 2.69 

Little Breton Nominees Pty Ltd 6,472,499 2.29 

Mr Michael George Fotios 5,216,526 1.84 

Mr William James Beament 4,830,000 1.71 

Kyim Pty Ltd 4,248,667 1.50 

Viridian Capital Pty Ltd 4,000,000 1.41 

Sharic Superannuation Pty Ltd 3,890,000 1.37 

Mr Steven Robert Steele McAlpine 3,817,608 1.35 

Multi Metal Consultants Pty Ltd 3,764,400 1.33 

Mr Andrew William Spencer 3,398,977 1.20 

Mr Ian Davies 3,100,000 1.10 

Leefab Pty Ltd 2,866,666 1.01 

Galtrad Pty Ltd 2,800,000 0.99 

Gunz Pty Ltd 2,793,805 0.99 

Ms Betty Jeanette Moore & Mr Philip Colin Hammond 2,789,998 0.99 

Perth Select Seafoods Pty Ltd 2,705,357 0.96 

Mr Philip Colin Hammond & Ms Betty Jeanette Moore 2,589,998 0.92 

Lantech Developments Pty Ltd 2,546,833 0.90 

 134,385,862 47.50 
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Supplementary Information 
Additional information included in accordance with Listing Rules of ASX Limited 
 
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
as at 30 September 2010 
 
2. UNLISTED OPTIONS 

Class of options Number of options  Number of Holders 

a) Exercisable at 20 cents each on or before 10 October 2010 (NSTAA) 1,500,000 1 

 Holdings of more than 20% of this class: 

 Fraka Investments Pty Ltd 1,500,000 

b) Exercisable at 10 cents on or before 30 July 2012 (NSTAB) 1,000,000 4 

 Holdings of more than 20% of this class: 

 P McGovern 250,000 

 B Ekers 250,000 

 D Stralow 250,000 

 M Burns 250,000 

c) Exercisable at 20 cents each on or before 30 July 2013 (NSTAC) 1,000,000 4 

 Holdings of more than 20% of this class: 

 P McGovern 250,000 

 B Ekers 250,000 

 D Stralow 250,000 

 M Burns 250,000 

d) Exercisable at various prices on or before 2 September 2011 (NSTAI) 1,000,000 2 

 Holdings of more than 20% of this class: 

 J Boladeras 500,000 

 W Gewargis 500,000 

e) Exercisable at 2.5 cents on or before 4 September 2010 (NSTAQ) 5,213,334 2 

 Holdings of more than 20% of this class: 

 W J Beament 4,880,000 

f) Exercisable at 5 cents on or before 4 September 2012 (NSTAU) 12,333,333 4 

 Holdings of more than 20% of this class: 

 W J Beament 6,500,000 

 Delta Resource Management Pty Ltd 5,000,000 

g) Exercisable at 10 cents each on or before 4 September 2013 (NSTAS) 12,333,333 4 

 Holdings of more than 20% of this class: 

 W J Beament 6,500,000 

 Delta Resource Management Pty Ltd 5,000,000 

h) Exercisable at 20 cents each on or before 18 June 2012 (NSTAW) 100,000 1 

 Holdings of more than 20% of this class: 

 A Townsend 100,000 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
as at 30 September 2010 
 
2. UNLISTED OPTIONS - continued 

Class of options Number of options  Number of Holders 

i) Exercisable at various prices and expiry dates (NSTAY),  
20,779,433 at 5 cents on or before 4 September 2011;  
24,467,992 at 10 cents on or before 4 September 2012; 
750,000 at 5.75 cents with various expiry dates up to 20 October 2013 
750,000 at 5.75 cents with various expiry dates up to 8 December 2013 
5,000,000 at 5 cents on or before 30 July 2012 
5,000,000 at 7.5 cents on or before 30 July 2013 
Total this class 56,747,425 298 

 Holdings of more than 20% of this class: 

 Investmet Limited 20,582,371 

 RMB Australia Pty Ltd 10,000,000 

j) Exercisable at various prices on or before 16 November 2010 (NSTAZ) 2,000,000 1 

 Holdings of more than 20% of this class: 

 W J Beament 2,000,000 
 
3. RESTRICTED SECURITIES 
 
 Currently there are no securities subject to either ASX imposed or voluntary restrictions. 
 
4. ON-MARKET BUY-BACK 
 
 Currently there is no on-market buy-back of the Company’s securities. 
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Supplementary Information 
Additional information included in accordance with Listing Rules of ASX Limited 
 
TENEMENT SCHEDULE 
as at 30 September 2010 
 

Tenement Number Interest Project Name and Location 

E08/1744 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

E08/1745 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

E47/1134 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

E47/1553 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

E08/1187 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

E08/1845 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

M08/196 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

M08/99 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

M08/222 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

P08/543 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

P08/544 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

P08/565 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

P47/1264 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

P47/1265 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

P47/1313 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

L08/12-15 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

E08/1166 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1189 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1763 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1842 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1843 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1844 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

P08/546 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1606 20% free carried Mt Clement JV, Ashburton WA 

M08/191 20% free carried Mt Clement JV, Ashburton WA 

M08/192 20% free carried Mt Clement JV, Ashburton WA 

M08/193 20% free carried Mt Clement JV, Ashburton WA 

E(A)51/1391 100% Cheroona, Murchison WA 

E(A)52/2509 100% Beatty Park, Peak Hill WA 

E80/2612  100% Emull (Red Billabong), Kimberley WA 

E80/2394  100% Golden Crown, Kimberley WA 

E80/3550 10% free carried Tunganary, Kimberley WA 

E80/3640 10% free carried Tunganary, Kimberley WA 

E80/4001 100% Range (Wilson River), Kimberley WA 
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